
 

 

 

Hearing of 
Submissions 
Committee 
 

 

Agenda 

 
 
 
Tuesday, 6 May 2025 
Civic Centre, 15 Anderson Street, Lilydale  
and via Videoconference 
 

Page 1



 
Information for Councillors and the community 
 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY 
 
We respectfully acknowledge the Traditional Owners, the Wurundjeri People, as the Custodians of 
this land. We also pay respect to all Aboriginal community Elders, past and present, who have resided 
in the area and have been an integral part of the history of this region. 
 

   
 
COUNCIL VISION 
 
Whether you live here or visit, you will see how much we care for country, how inclusive and 
connected our communities are, and how sustainable balanced growth makes this the best place in 
the world. 
 
VALUE OF HISTORY 
 
We acknowledge that history shapes our identities, engages us as citizens, creates inclusive 
communities, is part of our economic well-being, teaches us to think critically and creatively, inspires 
leaders and is the foundation of our future generations. 
 
COUNCILLOR COMMITMENT 
 
We’ll be truthful, represent the community’s needs, be positive and responsive and always strive to do 
better. 
 
OUR COUNCILLORS 
 
Billanook Ward: Tim Heenan 
Chandler Ward: Gareth Ward 
Chirnside Ward: Richard Higgins 
Lyster Ward: Peter Mcilwain 
Melba Ward: Mitch Mazzarella 

O’Shannassy Ward: Jim Child 
Ryrie Ward: Fiona McAllister 
Streeton Ward: Jeff Marriott 
Walling Ward: Len Cox 

 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER & DIRECTORS 
 
Chief Executive Officer, Tammi Rose 
Director Built Environment & Infrastructure, 
Hjalmar Philipp 
Director Communities, Leanne Hurst 

Director Corporate Services, 
Vincenzo Lombardi 
Director Planning and Sustainable Futures, 
Kath McClusky 

 
GOVERNANCE RULES 
 
All Council and Delegated Committee meetings are to be conducted in accordance with Council’s 
Governance Rules, which can be viewed at: https://www.yarraranges.vic.gov.au/Council/Corporate-
documents/Policies-strategies/Governance-rules 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN MEETINGS 
 
Members of the community can participate in Council meetings in any of the following ways: 

• making a verbal submission for up to 5 minutes on matters not listed on the agenda. 

• submitting a question. 

• speaking for up to 5 minutes to a specific item on the agenda. For planning applications and 
policy issues, the Chair will invite one person to speak on behalf of any objectors and one person 
to speak on behalf of the applicant. For other matters on the agenda, only one person will be 
invited to address Council, unless there are opposing views. At the discretion of the Chair, 
additional speakers may be invited for items of large interest. 

• speaking for up to 5 minutes to a petition to be presented at a meeting. 
 

Page 2

https://www.yarraranges.vic.gov.au/Council/Corporate-documents/Policies-strategies/Governance-rules
https://www.yarraranges.vic.gov.au/Council/Corporate-documents/Policies-strategies/Governance-rules


For further information about how to participate in a Council meeting, please visit: 
https://www.yarraranges.vic.gov.au/Council/Council-meetings/Submissions-questions-petitions-to-
Council 
 
LIVE STREAMING AND RECORDING OF MEETINGS 
 
Council meetings will be live streamed and recorded with the video recording being published on 
Council’s website. Council will cease live streaming at the direction of the Chair or prior to any 
confidential items being considered. 
 
Opinions or statements made during the course of a meeting are those of the particular individuals. 
Council does not necessarily endorse or support the views, opinions, standards or information 
contained in the live streaming or recording of meetings. While Council will use its best endeavours to 
ensure the live stream and Council’s website are functioning, technical issues may arise which may 
result in Council temporarily adjourning the meeting or, if the issue cannot be resolved, adjourning the 
meeting to another date and time to be determined. 
 
A person in attendance at the meeting must not operate film, photographic, tape-recording or other 
equipment to reproduce sound and/or images at any meeting without first obtaining the consent of the 
Chair. 
 
The Minutes produced after each Council Meeting form the official record of the decisions made by 
Yarra Ranges Council.. 
 
VIEWING THIS AGENDA ON A MOBILE DEVICE 
 

 

The free modern.gov app enables you to download papers for our meetings on Apple, 
Android and Windows devices. When you first open the app you will be asked to 
‘Subscribe to Publishers’ – simply select Yarra Ranges Council from the list of councils. 
The App allows you to select the meetings you are interested in and it will then 
automatically keep itself updated with all the latest meeting agendas and minutes. 

 
EVACUATION PROCEDURES  
 
In the case of an emergency during a meeting held at the Civic Centre, 15 Anderson Street, Lilydale, 
you should follow the directions given by staff and evacuate the building using the nearest available 
exit. You should congregate at the assembly point at Hardy Street car park. 
 
CONTACT US 
 
Post PO Box 105, Anderson Street 
Telephone 1300 368 333 
Facsimile (03) 9735 4249 
Email mail@yarraranges.vic.gov.au  
 

Page 3

https://www.yarraranges.vic.gov.au/Council/Council-meetings/Submissions-questions-petitions-to-Council
https://www.yarraranges.vic.gov.au/Council/Council-meetings/Submissions-questions-petitions-to-Council
mailto:mail@yarraranges.vic.gov.au


Hearing of Submissions Committee 6 May 2025 

  

Agenda 
  
 
1.   DELEGATED COMMITTEE MEETING OPENED 

 

5 

2.   ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY 

 

6 

3.   INTRODUCTION OF MEMBERS PRESENT 

 

7 

4.   APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE 

 

8 

5.   DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

 

9 

 In accordance with Chapter 7, Rule 4, of the Governance Rules 
developed by Council in accordance with section 60 of the Local 
Government Act 2020. 
 

 

6.   BUSINESS PAPER 

 

 

 6.1   Budget Financial Year 2025/2026 Public Submissions 

 

10 - 181 

7.   CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS 

 

182 

 In accordance with section 66(2)(a) of the Local Government Act 
2020. 
 

 

8.   CLOSE OF THE MEETING 

 

183 - 184 

Page 4



Hearing of Submissions 
Committee Agenda                                                                                          05.06.25 

YARRA RANGES COUNCIL  

 

AGENDA FOR THE HEARING OF SUBMISSIONS COMMITTEE MEETING TO BE 

HELD ON TUESDAY 6 MAY 2025 COMMENCING AT 4.30PM IN COUNCIL 

CHAMBER, CIVIC CENTRE, ANDERSON STREET, LILYDALE / VIA 

VIDEOCONFERENCE 

 

1. MEETING OPENED  

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



 

Hearing of Submissions 
Committee Agenda  06.05.25 

 

2. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY 

 

Yarra Ranges Council acknowledges the Wurundjeri and other Kulin Nations as 

the Traditional Owners and Custodians of these lands and waterways. 

We pay our respects to all Elders, past, present, and emerging, who have 

been, and always will be, integral to the story of our region. 

We proudly share custodianship to care for Country together. 

 

 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



Hearing of Submissions 
Committee Agenda  06.05.25 

 

2. INTRODUCTION OF MEMBERS PRESENT 

 

OUR COUNCILLORS 

 

Billanook Ward: Tim Heenan 

Chandler Ward: Gareth Ward 

Chirnside Ward: Richard Higgins 

Lyster Ward: Peter Mcilwain 

Melba Ward: Mitch Mazzarella 

O’Shannassy Ward: Jim Child 

Ryrie Ward: Fiona McAllister 

Streeton Ward: Jeff Marriott 

Walling Ward: Len Cox 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER & DIRECTORS 

 

Chief Executive Officer, Tammi Rose 

Director Built Environment & Infrastructure, Hjalmar Philipp 

Director Communities, Leanne Hurst 

Director Corporate Services, Vincenzo Lombardi 

Director Planning & Sustainable Futures, Kath McClusky 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 

 Hearing of Submissions 
Committee Agenda  06.05.25 

 

4. APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE 

 

There were no apologies received prior to the commencement of this meeting. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



 Hearing of Submissions 
Committee Agenda  06.05.25 

 

5. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

 

In accordance with section 130 of the Local Government Act 2020. 

The Local Government Act 2020 defines two categories of conflict of interest: 

• a general conflict of interest, which is defined as “…a relevant person has 

a general conflict of interest in a matter if an impartial, fair-minded person 

would consider that the person's private interests could result in that 

person acting in a manner that is contrary to their public duty” 

• a material conflict of interest, which is defined as “…a relevant person has 

a material conflict of interest in respect of a matter if an affected person 

would gain a benefit or suffer a loss depending on the outcome of the 

matter. The benefit may arise or the loss incurred (a) directly or indirectly; 

or (b) in a pecuniary or non-pecuniary form.” 

In accordance with section 130 of the Local Government Act 2020, a conflict of 

interest must be disclosed in the manner required by the Governance Rules 

and the relevant person must exclude themselves from the decision-making 

process. 

 

No Conflicts of Interest have been received prior to the Agenda being printed. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 
 

Hearing of Submissions 
Committee Agenda  06.05.25 
 

BUDGET FINANCIAL YEAR 2025-2026 PUBLIC SUBMISSIONS HEARING 
 

Report Author: Manager Financial Services (CFO) 

Responsible Officer: Director Corporate Services 

Ward(s) affected: (All Wards); 
 

The author(s) of this report and the Responsible Officer consider that the report complies 
with the overarching governance principles and supporting principles set out in the Local 
Government Act 2020. 

CONFIDENTIALITY 

This item is to be considered at a Hearing of Submission Committee meeting that is 
open to the public. 

SUMMARY 

On the 27 March 2025, Council resolved that the draft 2025-2026 Budget and 
Revenue and Rating Plan 2025-2029 be advertised for public consultation.  

These documents outline the future strategic direction and key activities that will 
be undertaken by Council and how the activities will be funded. 

The documents were made available for public inspection and written submissions 
were sought until midnight on 27 April 2025. 

A total of 48 public submissions were received during this period and the purpose 
of the Delegated Committee Meeting is to hear a number of presentations from 
Submitters in relation to their submissions. Also, for the Delegated Committee to 
review and consider the written submissions received alongside draft responses to 
each written submission as prepared by Officers. 16 of the submitters have also 
requested to speak to their Submissions at the Hearing of Submission Meeting, 6 
May 2025.  

We thank all submitters for their time, constructive submissions and feedback.  
 

 

 

 

Page 10

Agenda Item 6.1



 
 

Hearing of Submissions 
Committee Agenda  06.05.25 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1. That the Committee, having considered the written and verbal 
submissions received, accept the response to each submission as per 
Attachment 1. 

2. That the responses in Attachment 1 are submitted to Council as the 
recommendations of the Committee for the Council Meeting on 10 June 
2025 for the purpose of considering the adoption of the 2025-2026 Budget 
and 2025-2029 and the Revenue and Rating Plan.  

3. The confidential matters within this report to remain confidential 
indefinitely as it relates to matters specified under Section 3(1)(f) of the 
Local Government Act 2020. 

4. Acknowledges presentations made to the Committee and thanks all 
submitters. 

RELATED COUNCIL DECISIONS 

On 27 March 2025, Council resolved that the draft 2025-2026 Budget and 2025-
2026 and Revenue and Rating plan be advertised on 27 March 2025 for public 
comment and consultation.  

DISCUSSION 

Purpose and Background 

Yarra Ranges Council has engaged its community and Councillors to develop and 
review the Council Budget and Revenue and Rating Plan. These documents were 
made available to the community for inspection and written submissions were sought 
to ensure these documents continue to reflect the goals, aspirations and needs of 
the community.  

Council must prepare and adopt an annual budget that contains financial statements 
and other matters by no later than 30 June each year this document also contains 3 
year forecasts. The purpose of this report is to present the submissions received to 
the Committee, together with management responses for consideration prior to the 
final Budget being considered by Council for adoption scheduled for 10 June 2025.   

Recommended option and justification 

It is recommended that the responses to submissions in Attachment 2 are the 
preliminary recommendations of the Committee to be considered at the Council 
Meeting on 10 June 2025 for the purpose of considering the adoption of the 2025-26 
Council Budget and Revenue and Rating Plan 2025-2029 

In officers’ view, there are no key issues arising from the submissions received in 
relation to the draft Budget documents. 

Page 11



 
 

Hearing of Submissions 
Committee Agenda  06.05.25 
 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

The two documents outline:  

• Council’s management of financial resources for a four-year period; and   

• The proposed resources allocated to the delivery of proposed initiatives, 
capital works, delivery of services and funding for key community 
priorities.   

The consideration of the community submissions helps to further inform the 
development of the Council’s budget. 

APPLICABLE PLANS AND POLICIES  

Council’s Vision 2036 articulates the future aspirations for our community and the 
municipality. The Council Plan sets a clear direction for Council and articulates the 
focussed key initiatives and projects to be undertaken by Council.  

Council’s Community Engagement Policy 2021 sets out that Council will engage with 
the community for participation in the development of, and feedback on the Annual 
Budget.  

RELEVANT LAW 

Council must prepare and adopt a budget for each financial year and the subsequent 
three financial years by 30 June each year in accordance with section 94 of the 
Local Government Act 2020.    

The annual budget must be in the format outlined in the model prescribed by the 
Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020.  

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

Economic Implications 

The draft 2025-26 Budget shows a small underlying operating deficit.  However, 
future financial projections indicate that this will only apply to the short term, with 
Council’s longer term financial sustainability returning to positively sound assuming 
the local government sector continues to receive the fair and necessary external 
funding required from industry partners. 

Social Implications 

The draft 2025-26 Budget and Council Plan allows for the implementation of priority 
actions arising from the Health and Wellbeing Plan including: mental health, physical 
health, social recovery, climate change and impacts on health, reduce harm from 
alcohol, health impacts of emergencies and gender equity. 

 

Page 12



 
 

Hearing of Submissions 
Committee Agenda  06.05.25 
 

Environmental Implications 

The draft 2025-2026 Budget and Council Plan includes a number of key 
environmental initiatives, including the implementation of Year 1 initiatives in the 
Nature Plan 2024-2034 to contribute to the vision of a healthy, resilient and 
connected natural living landscape. 

The documentation also provides for continued work on energy saving initiatives to 
reduce resources and energy consumption through environmental best practice.  

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

In accordance with Council’s Community Engagement Policy, the draft Budget 
documents were advertised from 27 March 2025 to 27 April 2025, with the 
community invited to submit feedback for consideration by a Delegated Committee of 
Council.  

Throughout the year we hear from the community in a variety of significant ways, 
including roadshows and community pop-ups held across the municipality, our online 
feedback portal ‘Shaping Yarra Ranges’, via Councillors, at Council meetings and 
from customer feedback. 

The information we received from the community has provided valuable input to the 
draft 2025-2026 Budget development process, helping ensure resources are being 
allocated to priority areas identified by the community, while also ensuring Council 
can continue to meet its legislative obligations.  

COLLABORATION, INNOVATION AND CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT 

The draft 2025-26 Budget and Revenue and Rating Plans have been prepared 
through rigorous consultation with Councillors and Council Officers. These 
documents have been developed to respond to the current and future needs of the 
community.  

RISK ASSESSMENT 

Consideration of the draft budgets needs to balance the needs and desires of all 
members of the community, the vitality and well-being of the municipality as a whole, 
and the future sustainability of Council. There is a risk that these competing 
objectives cause tension in the context of a diverse and complex community 
environment with scarce resources available.  

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

No officers and/or delegates acting on behalf of the Council through the Instrument 
of Delegation and involved in the preparation and/or authorisation of this report have 
any general or material conflict of interest as defined within the Local Government 
Act 2020. 

Page 13



 
 

Hearing of Submissions 
Committee Agenda  06.05.25 
 

ATTACHMENTS TO THE REPORT 

1. Council Budget Submissions – Summary  

2. Council Budget Submissions – Summary with Management Responses  

 

 

Page 14



Ref # Submission Details

1

Thanks for the opportunity to review and provide feedback on the 2025–26 Draft Budget.
Overall, I appreciate the budget’s direction and how it reflects many of the priorities raised by the community—especially the continued investment in core infrastructure like roads, drainage, and public facilities, 
and the emphasis on sustainability and climate resilience. These are clearly the right areas to be focusing on. A few points stood out to me that I’d like to raise for consideration:
1. Environment & Climate Response
There’s strong alignment between the budget and community values around caring for Country, protecting biodiversity, and addressing climate change. Programs like the Nature Plan, Ribbons of Green, and the
move to zero-emissions technology are great to see. My only caution is to ensure these programs stay practical and transparent—not just high-level or symbolic. I’d support more clear performance measures
and public updates on how these are tracking.
2. Community Equity & Resilience
Investment across all life stages—from early years to aged care, youth support, and mental health—is essential. I was disappointed, however, to see the withdrawal from aged care services. I understand the
funding model has changed, but I hope Council will stay close to how this impacts vulnerable residents and keep working with local providers to make sure no one is left behind.
3. Financial Sustainability & Debt
I recognise the difficult position councils are in, with rising costs and limited revenue options. Borrowing $8M to fund capital works seems reasonable, but I’d urge caution to ensure future repayments don’t start
cutting into service delivery—particularly those services that support people over infrastructure. Similarly, the $2.5M underlying operating deficit should be closely watched.
4. Community Engagement & Decision Making
The broad engagement across townships is encouraging. I’d love to see this taken further—maybe with more participatory budgeting or community-directed project funds in future years. This could build even
stronger local ownership and allow for grassroots priorities to rise more easily within the process.
5. Waste Charges & Accessibility
The move to remove 'bin packages' and let people choose their service level is sensible. That said, the 7.3% increase in waste charges is not insignificant. Clear communication and support to help residents
reduce waste and pick the most cost-effective service for their needs will be key to making this work equitably.
All up, this budget reflects the realities of the moment while staying largely aligned with community values. I appreciate the efforts being made to balance it all. Thanks again for the chance to contribute.

2 Seville east footpath and bus stops. Upgrade for wheelchair access both side of hwy at peters/ old Warburton hwy
Foot paths for safety for pedestrians (refer to Attachment 1.1)

3 Hi Peter, I understand the Council is looking for a 3% increase in rates. I live in Kallista and over 44 years have received very little return for the rates I’ve paid, probably only occasional grading of my road.
As most of my rates seem to be spent anywhere but Kallista I am not in favour of an increase.

4

1. Shire of Yarra Ranges 2025-26 Budget must include provision for a footbath along Old Warburton Highway between Glenvalley Crescent park and Warburton Highway Seville East. This will eliminate the
frequent hazard of road traffic to school children and parents with small children and strollers walking on the road to reach the bus stop(s) on Warburton Highway to access public transport. This roadside is
hazardous and mostly inaccessible to pedestrians.
2. Shire of Yarra Ranges 2025-6 Budget must include provision for works to install Pedestrian Traffic Lights at the Seville East Warburton Highway intersection with Peters Road and Old Warburton Highway.
This will eliminate the daily risk to pedestrians including school children, needing to access public transport by crossing a busy highway to the bus stop(s).

5 Does this include a new aquatic centre for Mooroolbark/Kilsyth? It would be a disgrace to remove this facility to Lilydale. Very much a snub of the area that once had that facility. Relocate to Mooroolbark next to 
the Mooroolbark Community Centre at the very least. We need this more than Lilydale...

6 Upgrade to radio transmission services includes Yarra Valley FM 99.1, Flow FM 106.3 and DAB+ digital radio services is a new funding of $500,000 allocation for upgrade to radio transmission services, on your 
behalf of Australian Communications and Media Authority (refer Attachment 1.2)

7 It would be nice to see some mention made of funding being put aside for the trail that the shire undertook to build connecting Hazelvale Rd, Tecoma to Birdsland some 2 years ago. This undertaking was made 
at the Council Meeting 14/3/23 in response to a petition I presented at that meeting. 

8

To Yarra Ranges Council
Re Budget and Expenditure 2025-26
The Jack Hort Memorial Community Pool... A review of site facilities and upgrade are needed!
After recent use of the Jack Hort Pool facilities in Healesville I find some facilities are inadequate and unsatisfactory
1. Inadequate storage lockers.
- There are no lockable lockers for storage of personal items.
2. The Men's Change Room has no cubicles for changing or showers!
- a user cannot access privacy if desired (e.g. if required for children)
- the showers have very poor quality shower heads
- there is little or no hot water
- heating is entirely inadequate

9
I'm totally against the $2.5 million for the WMBD when we have walking trails around the river here in Warburton which are at the very least a broken ankle or hip waiting to happen. The WMBD must take 
second place to public health and safety. If I or anyone else suffer an injury caused by these neglected tracks who will take responsibility? Maybe suitable compensation would be sought through legal avenues. 
Tuesdays for being able to speak to my submission are not suitable.

10 Spend more money on street lighting in Mooroolbark the side streets are dangerous in winter. Enforcement of nature strip's and overhanging trees need to be addressed. 

Budget 2024-2025 Submission Log - Summary (public)

P
age 15



Ref # Submission Details

11
I would like a footpath along Monbulk/Silvan Rd starting from Silvan glades all the way to Carter Brothers fruit and veg shop then continues to Silvan football oval. I am sick of walking on uneven dangerous sides 
of the road a footpath linking Silvan and Monbulk. I walk nearly every day Silvan glades up to Monbulk Seville rd. it would be nice to have some where safe to walk instead of driving into Monbulk to walk. Gravel 
path would suffice or asphalt.

12
I see there is nothing provided for the fringe towns, whose pay massive amounts of rates simply due to being on acreage, for the purposes of having livestock that isn't farming e.g. horses. 
Unsealed roads, no footpaths, no local sporting facilities
It would be better if Yarra Ranges gave up these fringe towns and had them reallocated to Cardinia shire. e.g. Macclesfield

13 More funding towards road sealing & drainage upgrades!

14

1- increasing rates during a period of financial hardship whilst maintaining a surplus is ethically and morally wrong 
2- ditch projects such as solar - all these batteries & panels are proving worse to the environment than what we are currently doing , a real crisis is looming as this tech junk accumulates
3- the huge fleet of council
Cars sitting in the back car park day and night needs to be culled - significant savings would be made 
4- when using private contractors stop paying a “council surcharge “ that is usually put on bills - the quotes you receive need to be compared to private works costs and time frames . An example is fence 
replacement at public buildings , roof replacement ( the recent one at bowls club is an example) the time spent on the job was limited by long lunches finishing early and miscellaneous breaks - the fact that a 
qualified builder couldn’t /didn’t notice the asbestos doesn’t say much for his skills but proved a chance to bill council more $$. This is only one example I could find many more as can others in the community
The waste of money at council in man hours and bills is ridiculous 
- the parking restrictions in Warburton will not raise revenue the cost of metres etc will be well offset by shops and cafes closing as visitors stay away , this plan should be scrapped and whichever brightspark 
came up with it should be given a new job somewhere else 

15

Good day,
Where is the best place for me to ask CouSecond-generation Anticoagulant Rodenticide poisons
(SGARs) l for the following:
1) ensure all vehicles are as emissions free as possible - EV for passenger cars,
hybrid/electric/hydrogen for heavy duty vehicles
2) Second-generation Anticoagulant Rodenticide poisons (SGARs) are not employed by
Council as it’s terrible for owls
3) cat curfews are enforced to keep wildlife safe?

16
St Austell Rd -
Belgrave Sth..
Been promised for it to be made for 45 years , will it be done for my funeral ..

17
I am very disappointed that in the midst of a cost of living crisis you are considering raising the amount payable on Council rates. The rates are already excessively high. Maybe the Council could tighten their 
belts a little rather than increase rates. Even though you have asked for feedback, as a Government body, l fully expect you to ignore my comments and also ignore the financial wellbeing of members of our 
community. I am sorry to say that this is what l expect from all levels of government in Victoria

18

The budget has been very well put together and is in general a good draft budget.
There are a few things that need to be amended or taken into consideration.
The first page of your budget is a picture of a bike, and this does not represent our Shire, but has plenty to do with the budget and expenditure.
Firstly, I note that there is emphasis on community engagement when this budget is based on only 172 people out of over 156, 000 in the Shire that contributed. Many people do not have online services, and I 
ask there be a return to sit down township meetings instead of pop ups.
Some of the objectives is to provide quality infrastructure and liveable places, along with community engagement, deliver essential community services and support, to be financially stable with financial 
responsibility.
I feel this report covers some of the above but feel that more money needs to be contributed to aged care, mental health, and family services. There is less being spent on these services combined then the 
Warburton Mountain bike Destination project. It is around $5442.00 being spent on the above services combined when the WMBD will cost an extra $2.6 million to build and an increase to council materials and 
services by $1.3 operating establishment alone just for this, so a debt to council by $3.9 MILLION. I question this and ask this to be reconsidered and removed from council budget. With this in the budget it calls 
for further questioning from the public. Will rate payers be contributing to this and with the recent rate rise it is unjustified, unsustainable, does not balance community expectation, or fair and equitable. To 
readdress these funds to update the Warburton River Walk would be more beneficial.
The draft mentions that council will be transparent, however there is over $40,00.00 in “other” costs and expenditure. This needs to be explained. 
With the increase of rates, council have proposed in this draft about residents having to pay for a different sized bin when all the community wants is weekly collection to be returned, not to pay extra for another 
bin as waste management is an essential service for every resident that is not being met.
Please consider this feedback,

P
age 16



Ref # Submission Details

19

9736905 - RM113620 - Follow up of School Road Menzies Creek footpath works
As per my email on 29 November 2024, I have read and understand your emails advising that people are choosing to walk on the road with prams. Unfortunately, to construct a footpath there needs to be a 
budget and to get a budget there is a process of approval. In a municipality the size of Yarra Ranges, there are many projects that compete for budget.
Stage one of the footpath was constructed as it was designed and budgeted for in the 2021/22 financial year. Stage two was a more complex design and needed to be completed separately. This has now been 
designed and is budgeted for construction in 2025/26 financial year. I do not have a firm timeframe as we need to source a contractor and program the work. Please see below map of the work plan.
As I have previously advised, interim repairs to the existing section have been made, with a bit more work planned for next week. This is to make the path more useable until a contractor can attend.
A contractor has been programmed to make more substantial repairs before the end of the year – I do not have exact dates as this is dependent on many factors like weather, contractor plant etc

20

I notice that in the Draft Budget 2025-26 funding has been allocated for the construction of a footpath on Emberson Street, Kallista. I live on the corner of Emberson Street and Ivy Avenue. There is no call and 
no need for a footpath along Emberson Street. By all means, seal the road, However, Emberson Street is not a thoroughfare for children walking to school. The construction of a footpath on Emberson Street is a 
waste of rate payers' money. A better location for a footpath is on Tom Roberts Road, Kallista. Although there is a wheel chair ramp leading to the kindergarten, there is no footpath leading to it from Church 
Street. Nor is there a footpath on the Kallista Mechanics Institute side. Cars roar down Tom Roberts Road from the top of the hill. A footpath to the kindergarten or the Mechanics Institute would be money better 
spent and would increase the safety level of families. Perhaps a speed hump on Tom Roberts Road on the high side would also improve safety. Please don't waste rate payers' money on an unnecessary 
footpath on  Emberson Street. Maybe the plan was well-intentioned, however it would be underused.

21 56 walker road sealing, the amount of dust the consumes our property is unbelievable. Not only does damage to cars but soon or later an accident due the to excessive bumps you already sealed most seal the 
rest 

22

Re: Proposed Footpath – Emberson Street, Kallista

I’m writing in regard to the proposed footpath for Emberson Street, Kallista, as outlined in the draft 2025–26 budget. I was surprised to see this project included and would like to express my concerns as a 
resident of Emberson Street.
My understanding is that the footpath has been proposed to encourage children to walk to school. As a parent of a child who attended Kallista Primary School, I believe this is an unnecessary use of council 
funds.
Emberson Street is a short, quiet street with only nine houses and no young children currently living here. It is not a thoroughfare or a commonly used walking route to the school. As such, the justification for the 
path doesn’t appear to reflect the actual needs or habits of local families.
There are also practical concerns. As you are aware, the area experiences drainage issues, and I’m concerned a concrete footpath could exacerbate the problem by increasing water runoff. The current nature 
strip helps slow and absorb water flow, which is more appropriate for the terrain.
Additionally, if the footpath were to be installed on the high side of the street, several established trees and shrubs would likely need to be removed. These contribute significantly to the character of the street 
and the broader aesthetic of Kallista, and their loss would be felt by the community.
Residents of Emberson Street have not been consulted about this proposal, and those I’ve spoken to agree that a footpath here is unnecessary and a poor use of council resources. We feel the estimated 
$135,000 cost could be far better directed toward projects with greater community benefit.
If funding for a footpath is available, I urge council to consider installing a footpath along Church Street / Tom Roberts Road, near the kindergarten and Mechanics Hall (as an extension of Halls Track). 
This is a high-traffic area for families and young children at pick up and drop off time and currently lacks any kind of footpath. Many drivers speed through this section, and a footpath would significantly improve 
safety and accessibility for the community.
Thank you for considering this feedback. I hope council will reconsider this proposal and redirect resources to areas where they are most needed.

23

Seal of Walker Road Seville.
We require please the sealing of Walker Road Seville to be included road sealing budget 2025-2026.
As resident of 13 years in Walker Road Seville we have witness large scale of deterioration to our road. The road has become some what of a death trap with narrow of road, large ditch drains, corrugations, pot 
holes and extremely large ruts caused after large downpour of rain.
In the last 13 years we have seen Walker Road narrow due to crumbling edges and cleaning of drains the road has got so bad that in sections of the road you cannot longer pass two vehicle. You differently 
cannot pass truck or horse float. Not everyone is considerate and tries to pull over to let another vehicle through. As result we have seen many vehicle forced off the road into ditch and cause extensive damage 
to vehicles.
The dust is becoming a health problem. Our son along with many other high school students has to walk to Warburton Hwy to get the school bus. These kids are continuously showed in dust due to people 
travel at higher speeds to get over the corrugations with there car shuddering. 
There is numerous business and residents from Victoria Road, Dominic Road, Chandler Road, and Tolmie Ave who use Walker Road as there main access to Warburton Hwy. Traffic survey conducted in March 
2023 on Walker Road showed the average daily traffic was 334 vehicles. The traffic has increased since that survey was done. It is time to have walker road sealed. 
We are all sick of paying vehicle repairs bill due to damaged caused by corrugation, pothole and large ruts. The maximum speed you can travel is 20 to 30 km and you still have damage to car.
Other roads have been sealed in our arear for example Valley Road which do not have the volume of traffic Walker Road has. Please it is time to seal Walker Road before someone get seriously injured.

P
age 17



Ref # Submission Details

24

A 3% rate increase at a point in time where all citizen in your municipality are already struggling is showing how out of touch you are becoming. We currently have some of the highest rates in Victoria and our 
properties are not the most expensive. As a whole the demographic in this area is not a wealthy one and we pay more than those in high income areas. Just because the state government allows a 3% increase 
it does not mean we should all be charged the maximum. Should the budget not be feasible with the current revenue raised then please rewrite the budget don’t just ask for more from your already struggling 
community.

25

It has been some time since the purchase of the old Pembroke high school was finalized. I would like to enquire as to how the sale of the 4 existing council reserves was going to fund the development of the 
site. I attend the coffee van at the site most mornings and notice after an initial effort of some works to develop the park , the majority has been left "as is " from the original demolition . As it stands it is an 
absolute eyesore. I understand Council have sold the first site of the 4 reserves in question and are now in the process of looking for a sale on the second site in Wannen Court Kilsyth. I note this has been on 
the market for many months with no result which would indicate Councils expectation on value is far too high. Perhaps while trying to determine the sites real value ,i.e. take it off the market and have the valuer 
revisit the original value , Council could move onto the next sale of either Cambridge Road or Ellis Court to move things along with obtaining the funds to develop the old school site which would be a much 
better outcome for the ratepayers who are ultimately funding the whole process. It seems on the outset that who ever has been trusted at Council with the process of organising the sale of the 4 Councils 
reserves ,is being paid on a "per hour "basis. I say this as you only need to of been following the "shaping Yarra Ranges " web page to see this whole process is miles behind schedule.

26 Comments are provided on the three attachments (refer Attachment 1.3)

27

The Warburton Bowls Club have been seeking funds to replace their 15 year old bowling green for some years. They have raised and set aside funding to support up to a 50% community contribution towards 
renewal of this community asset. The condition of the green is now bordering on unplayable and needs to be replaced as a priority. Bowls is an important part of our local community wellbeing and needs support 
from Council. We are looking to have funds allocated in the current budget for these important works to be undertaken over winter prior to our 2025/26 bowls season. I have attached a photo of one of the many 
low spots in the green which cannot be repaired despite many attempts to do so. Support from Councillors on these works would be greatly appreciated (refer Attachment 1.4)

28

In the proposed draft budget put forward today we see that council are proposing the maximum rate increase of 3%. This is in addition to increases in waste collection, as well as the upcoming increase to the 
Emergency Services Volunteer Fund. These are costs that ratepayers cannot opt out of. There are other increases to user-pays costs and charges incurred by ratepayers, as well as the increases coming from 
council’s focus on parking fees and fines. 
This is on top of last years’ 2.75% rate increase, along with other increased costs that ratepayers will have seen in that time. 
It seems unconscionable that council is proposing to increase rates by the maximum allowed, particularly in the context of the current cost-of-living crisis. We have all been impacted by this crisis – most wages 
haven’t increased in line with inflation and so we all need to tighten our belts to adjust to this reality. 
Councils, like the rest of their community, needs to be tightening their belts, not putting more pressure on those already hurting. This means finding savings and going without things that are nice to have. 
Of course, none of us want to see services and programs reduced, but our personal experiences of the basic need to match our expenses to our income should be instructive. Some of the initiatives we are 
implementing are hugely appealing, but being realistic - many of these are nice-to-have, not critical, and I believe the focus should be on supporting those in need, as well as providing basic council services. 
Although there are platitudes throughout the document about “identifying efficiencies”, there is no depth of information provided to explain what has been done. 
I am fully aware that the motion before you tonight is not a motion to pass the budget itself, and instead is a motion to agree to put this proposed budget for community consultation. 
However, I believe this budget needs to be re-considered and councillors need to ask for options to be provided that do not require a rate increase. 
Perhaps council could provide these options as part of the community information package, and the community can be involved more pro-actively in the cost/benefit decision? I understand it’s not easy to be the 
face of a council that is considering cut-backs, however if you bring the community along to more genuinely be part of the cost / benefit analysis, you may find some of us surprisingly realistic about what can be 
achieved. 
I mentioned the ESVF – my understanding is that council has done modelling on the impact of this to the community and to council itself. However, I note that this impact is not explained in any way in the 
proposed budget. In order for the community to be adequately consulted, this should be explained. For example - will the increased ESVF levy mean that the emergency services are better funded, thus saving 
council money elsewhere in supporting emergencies? 
During the 2024 election campaign, 4 of our elected councillors responded to a Council Watch questionnaire and noted that in their opinion rates should be frozen or reduced, not increased. I thank each of you 
for sharing this opinion. It is reasonable to assume this was an important factor in your election success and the community now expects you to abide by this promise, and to be seen to be doing so. 
In 2024 there was a lone voice apposing the rate increase, now there are likely at least 4. And of course, this is not to suggest that the other 5 councillors are not also on the same page. 
In light of these points, I am asking that councillors: 
1. Update the budget papers to include a more fulsome explanation of the impact to the community of the upcoming ESVF 
2. Update and re-submit the budget papers to provide options for freezing rates so that the community is involved in the decision-making process around whether or not rates should be increased. 
I am therefore apposed to this motion. 

P
age 18



Ref # Submission Details

29

Dear Councillors
I  in support of the Partition lodged earlier for the "Surfacing of Walker Rd to be Completed", wish to advise of the ongoing hardships caused not just to 
ourselves but all others residing in Walker Rd Seville due to the ongoing poor state of our unsealed road.
My wife , daughter & myself have been living here now for almost 25 years and although previously promised that the road was to be sealed we still find ourselves continually enveloped in huge clouds of dust 
for many months of the year.
Eye soreness, eye and respiratory infections are common place issues caused by the dust.', which just enters and covers all and sundry. Whether or not this can eventually lead to a form of silicosis or other 
serious lung decease is yet to be known, however the quantities of dust settling within ones lungs cannot be doing any good to ones health? 
Traffic from Victoria Rd favours the not so steep, and more direct route of Walker Rd, continually & charges up the grade outside our house enveloping us & others all in untold quantities of dust. The worse the 
road condition, the faster they travel to ride over the bumps, cars, trucks, heavy earth moving equipment vehicles, they all do it.
We acknowledge also that all Emergency Vehicles accessing Victoria Rd beyond use Walker Rd, preferably due to its direct route to the highway and not being so steep as is Victoria Rd where sealed. Victoria 
Rd residents also accessing the Seville Primary School all use Walker Rd. 
The house and all other possessions are continually coated in dust, inside & out making it impossible to clean properly. If washing is left out more than a few hours it also becomes covered in the dust!
The state of our vehicles along with wheel and suspension maintenance is also an issue. The road continually has corregations & pot holes in its surface shaking both vehicles & occupants to bits daily. 
We noted at the previous Council Meeting held on 28 January 2025, which I was in attendance of, the Council' decision was unanimous that Walker Rd be given top priority regards sealing of the roads surface 
and completing the drainage works. once funding could be allocated to that currently unfinished project.
Over the years past and still today, tens of thousands of dollars have and are still being spent regularly on temporary fixes to the road surface & drainage with graders, crushed rock, rollers, even excavators 
working on the road numerous times a year.
Let us not waste any more funds which could have well and truly paid for the sealing of the road more than once on these continual temporary fixes. Let us finally seal the road once and for all?
Please ensure funding within the 2025-2026 Budget is put forward for, and to ensure the completion of the required works to complete the drainage and sealing to Walker Rd between Victoria Rd & the Seville 
Primary School ASAP.
Hoping for a positive outcome,
Kindest regards

30
This budget is disappointing. I live, work, and have children who go to school across Mount Dandenong, Olinda, Sassafras, and Ferny Creek — yet there’s nothing of real value that supports these communities. 
Once again, we’ve been forgotten or excluded. My taxes are spent on other areas I won’t even visit, while our region is left to crumble and local businesses continue to shut down. We’ve been completely 
ignored.

31

Thank you for the information sent to all residents of the Yarra Ranges. They are very comprehensive. However I could find no mention at all regarding replacing or upgrading pools in the Lilydale area. With the 
closure of the pool at the ex-Lilydale Squash and Fitness Centre, and the demise of the Hawthory Rd Pool, there is nothing within the Lilydale area, except for a couple of months with the outdoor pool. However 
with an ageing population, there are many people like me who depend on warm water exercising to keep fit and well, and others recuperating from accidents or illnesses who need this type of facility. Travelling 
to Monbulk or to Ringwood is too difficult. Did I miss the planning for addressing this very important need in our area? I would appreciate your response.

32

This is a request to seal/make Walker road in Seville.. My wife and I have lived on this road for 13 years, and every year the dust has got worse, the traffic more frequent (and faster), all whilst the road has 
deteriorated more each year! I’ve personally towed 3 cars out of the soft gutters in the last 12 months.. Our kids can’t play out the front because of the dust, our house constantly has a dust film on it,, and I’d 
hate to think of the damage it’s doing to our health and cars!! The way this road floods and washes away after each rain is seriously dangerous,, add to that the size and volume of the vehicles travelling this 
road to access the farms and equine hospital, it’s going to cause a serious accident one day!! Thanks for your time and efforts, 
Kind regards  

33
dear council I would like to high light the need to extend the footpath between the shire hall on the Warburton Hwy and Paynes Rd this is only a short section that many older residents living in Paynes Rd use. 
To access to shopping Centre at Seville. residents are forces to walk across uneven ground from Paynes Rd to the hall before reaching a footpath. Also buses use the parking at the hall to drop passengers that 
attend Whispering hills vineyard. So many people use that short section of unmade footpath that it should be a high priority.

34 To be able to communicate concerns about the amount being spent of $2.6 million and question where money is coming from regarding $1.3 million increase in the budget.
35 I am a resident of walker road Seville and strongly request the road be sealed as was planned and promised 

P
age 19



Ref # Submission Details

36

To the Yarra Ranges Council,
I’m writing to formally express my deep concern and strong objection to the proposed increases across rates, waste services, pet registrations, and pool fees—ranging from 3% up to an astonishing 20%.
These proposed hikes are absolutely ridiculous, particularly when considering that the Yarra Ranges already has some of the highest rates in the state. Many residents in our community are already doing it 
tough, with a significant portion of the Yarra Ranges being low socioeconomic. These increases show a clear lack of awareness—or concern—for the financial pressure many households are facing.
At a time when cost of living is soaring across the board, the council should be looking for ways to ease the burden on residents, not make it worse. Hitting essential services like waste collection and safety-
related fees such as pool registrations with excessive increases is unfair and unjustified.
I urge the council to reconsider these proposed rises and instead focus on genuine community support and fiscal responsibility. The current proposal is out of touch with the real-life struggles of everyday 
ratepayers.

37 The Kallista Flood Watch Group wishes to make a submission to the Yarra Ranges Council Budget 2025 - 2026 (refer Attachment 1.5)

38

Dear Councillors,
We are making a submission on the 2025-26 Draft Budget.
Yarra Ranges Dogs represents over one hundred direct members and two hundred associated members through social media, who walk their dogs in and around Wesburn Park. Wesburn contains the only off 
lead dog park in the vicinity, the closest others being in Seville and Healesville. This therefore services a large area of dog ownership.
The Wesburn Park off lead area is bordered on one side by the internal road through Wesburn Park that leads up to the pump track. There is no fence, or natural boundary of any sort, between this road and the 
off lead park. Dangerous situations are reported on a regular basis. This road has now been tarmacked, which has increased the natural speed of driving. A trail head for the Warburton Mountain Bike 
Destination is planned for within the park and this will dramatically increase the number of vehicles (including buses) using this road. The number of cars is already a considerable issue during sports practice 
days as there is a high concentration of vehicles in a short time. This park is also commonly used for learner driver practice, and this can lead to considerable stress for all concerned. The lack of fence here is a 
danger for all, not just the dogs.
The Wesburn Park Master Plan (completed in 2022) recognises that there is potential conflict between different users of the park, including dogs. This has been highlighted recently by a number of other 
complaints, including, but not limited to, parking in the off lead area during events (CRN 1120710), parking in the park by VIC roads construction vehicles leaving leaked bitumen which is hazardous to the dogs 
(4th Feb 2025), cars driving through the off lead park to access a water point, people picnicking at the agility equipment (with no dogs, and eating fried food), refuse left in the bushes, horses walking through 
groups of dogs, and the natural wildlife of the area.
All of these are present and ongoing conflicts that make the park less amenable for its intended purpose as an off lead dog area. This is also directly linked to the lack of a fence protecting the dogs from the 
road and other users, and clearly delineating their area. This in turn reduces the number of residents willing to use this facility. This was recognised in the Wesburn Park Master Plan, which budgeted for an 
intended expenditure of $10,000 to construct a partial fence along the length of the road adjoining the off lead area. This fence would mitigate the risks inherent in the current set up. Time line for the construction 
of the fence was given between 1 – 3 years in 2022. It has not been done.
Healesville has two off lead parks – one in the Don Road Recreation Reserve and the other in Coronation Park. The Coronation Park off lead area is bordered by the community garden on one side, a river and 
natural habitat on the other, with paths to a carpark. There is no road bordering this park. 
We have noted that in the 2025-2026 draft Budget, capital allowance has been made for the Coronation Park Dog off leash area upgrades under the Open Spaces New Works and Improvements section (row 
91). This allows for $453,000 in the 2025-2026 year, $177,000 from Council funding, the remainder from external funding.
There is a major discrepancy between the functional safety of the Coronation Park site and the Wesburn park site. The fact that Coronation park is now being offered $453,000 for upgrades, when Wesburn park 
has not been given their $10,000 for essential fencing is unacceptable, and against the duty of care the Council has to the residents and dogs of the Upper Yarra.
We therefore request that the Council adjusts the budget to include direct council funding for the partial fencing of the Wesburn off lead dog park as promised. This fence needs to run specifically between the off 
lead area and the internal road, for the safety and clarity of all users of this park as was set out within the Wesburn Park Master Plan in 2022. We also implore you to put a reasonable amount of money aside for 
this endeavour as the current model of fencing at Wesburn Park would not be fit for this purpose of risk mitigation. This work needs to be carried out as a matter of urgency.

39

I feel as a rate payer you the shire have missed the point of a cost of living crisis. 
In the home every dollar must be accounted for, and priorities must be made so things like extras must be cut first and then slowly the order of importance the necessities may have to be cut as well. it appears 
at the shire a lot of things that are extras do not get cut and the order of importance does not exist
As a working class man I cannot put up my own wages yearly if my costs increase I have to budget /cut things that are not important or necessary. Your yearly rate increases are not in the real world, and we 
must all budget accordingly. 
I am not saying to cut services I am saying there is plenty of room in the current budget to make cuts on things that are only seen important to the shire and not the ratepayers . There are some big projects in 
the budget time to stop spending .
And an 86 page report even Dr Carl could not decipher does not help the average rate payer really disheartening to read although much detail missing .
thanks for the opportunity to submit 

P
age 20



Ref # Submission Details

40

It was difficult to watch council meeting on the 25th March really disappointing to see rates going up again and a few councillor's in full support but here is a left field idea ......how about cutting costs on some of 
the big / huge projects council are currently spending on and new ones coming up.
Budget receives a big no from me. I feel council are out of touch with management of ratepayer's money Yes ratepayers' money the 190 000 000 dollars of it which happens to be the majority of your budget 
which means we the ratepayer should have a voice at the table .
I would like to see less focus on tourism and more on retaining our natural environment with less expenditure we should not need to spend millions on many of these projects .Have you heard of the million dollar 
view ? We already have it !! Tourism is thriving ...Well it is when I am out and about 
Council need to determine what is really important in our cost of living crisis and what is not 

IMPORTANT 
rubbish 
roads/footpaths 
drainage 
local laws 

NOT IMPORTANT 
overpriced million-dollar projects 

After trying to read and understand the 86 page report I gave up then I became aware of the related document section which after a quick review confirms that it is time we stop spending millions on what I 
consider a waste in this current climate / I am so disappointed in everything I have read on this budget but not surprised 
Council could quite easily cut costs in many areas as I said we live in a beautiful environment it does not need to be expensive to be just that a sustainable community 

41

To whom it may concern,
I wish to ask that the road I live on- Walker Road Seville be sealed.
I see that most roads in the area have been sealed, even poky little dead end roads that would have very little traffic and roads that have only residents living on one side of the road.
Walker Road is much busier than I believe you think and gets much more traffic during cherry season and horse floats just double the dust all the time.
Let me list how it affects me with the road being unsealed,
Mud or dust depending on time of year .
Corrugation or potholes from the road being unkept.
Unnecessary wear on car suspension components.
Flooding during heavy rain from the gutters being unkept.
The dust is terrible, trying to work in my garden with cars going past is unbearable.
I believe the money the council spend on grading, repairing the road is a waste as the first downpour we get the road is ruined by flooding as the gutters aren’t tended to at the same time , the money would be 
better spent sealing the road.
The road is a thoroughfare to residents that live further down Victoria Road.
The amount we pay in rates should see that the road is sealed, we had already agreed to pay some of the costs but it got pulled- only Walker road.
I have signed the petition regarding this issue and with my thoughts also I hope this road is sealed asap 

42 Please see attached file (refer Attachment 1.6)

43

In consideration of the supporting documents, the Warburton Bowls Club would like to submit a request for funds to be allocated toward the replacement of the playing surface and upgrades to lighting at the 
Warburton Bowls Club.
The current playing surface (green) is currently 13 years into a 15 year life expectancy depending on weather conditions, which in Warburton can be considered harsh. The Warburton Bowls Club undertook over 
$5,000 worth of repairs in December of 2023 to prolong the life of the surface, however during this process the underlayment was deemed ‘end-of-life’. 
As being a small club, the Warburton Bowls Club only has one playing surface and should it be deemed unplayable, the Club would no longer be able to compete. We have included a letter from Bowls Australia 
outlining this.
Currently our exterior playing lights are not energy efficient and need to be upgraded. In 2024, the Club received solar panels and a backup battery as a part of the community battery scheme. As highlighted 
later, these batteries are to be used in post-emergency event situations so that the Clubrooms can be a place of refuge in times of power outages. However, our lighting is so inefficient that the batteries are 
quickly drained when the lights are in use.
Upgrading the lighting is not only environmentally conscientious, but provides additional opportunities for the Club to host events that reach marginalised groups who are not available earlier in the day due to 
work or family commitments. At the moment the only evening event sees higher rates of female and junior participation (refer Attachment 1.7).

44

Far too much money is being spent on "animal management" and "planning".
This money would be better spent maintaining roads and core public infrastructure.
Having recently seen a friend go through the planning process to set up a simple shed on a very large property was absolutely ridiculous and a waste of time and money on everyone's part.
Animal management is the responsibility of the owners, bar criminal activity, it's up to neighbours to handle disputes and take these matters into their own hands if a amicable solution cannot be found. This isn't 
a good use of public money.

P
age 21



Ref # Submission Details

45 Please find attached the submission as Word document, as it is too long for this box (refer Attachment 1.8)
46 My submission is contained in the attached document (refer Attachment 1.9)

47

We are writing in regards to walker road Seville. We have terrible problems with continuous dust ( particularly in the warmer months) and corrugations on the road which is not great for the health of ours cars. 
We live on a road with a primary school which obviously brings extra traffic daily.
We also have concerns with the drainage in this area which brings flooding of our properties in the wet months.
We feel it is extremely unfair that we pay the same rates as those who have made roads and sewerage . Please take all this into consideration when you make a decision on which roads will be chosen.

48

Reading figure 3.1 for the budget coming 2025-26, particularly the projection is quite concerning from a rate-paying point of view that while rates increase almost 20% from 24/25 to 28/29, the surplus, and thus 
capital to fund further projects shrinks by 25% over the same time. A rate increase to stabilise the surplus is understandable, but at least be very transparent as to why rate increases (of which most councillors 
run on the platform of trying not to raise) are necessary to manage the books for the public service as a sector that has for years been overbloated enough as it is.
I know council terms are long, but people aren't terribly stoked to be handing over more year on year for an ever-shrinking pie, if there's even going to be any pie for younger people like myself to inherit.

49

Dear Mr. Cox,
I am writing to you to ask if council could please give consideration to extending the range of equipment on offer at Elizabeth Bridge Reserve, Kilsyth.
It is a highly used area, and I believe there is a grassed area, already with lighting that could be utilised.
At present there are only 3 or 4 pieces of equipment, and the range is highly used.
Many times when I attend it is being used and I am unable to use it also, unless I am prepared to wait.
The Community cupboard also has lighting nearby , which helps light up the area at dusk and early evening in the winter and summer months and it close proximity to my car, which helps from personal safety 
perspective.
The community cupboard has brought many new regular visitors to the park which is wonderful.
Hoping this receives favourable attention in upcoming budget expenditure,
Yours Sincerely P

age 22



P
age 23



P
age 24



P
age 25



Yarra R
anges C

ouncil has your local com
m

unity 
idea is

U
pgrade to radio transm

ission services w
ill

be included in the localcouncil budget for 2025/26 
financial year.

C
om

m
unity radio station Yarra Valley FM

w
ill

upgrade
from

 FM
radio reception

to extends it's 
coverage into greater M

elbourne suburbs, in 
addition to transm

itting throughout the Shires of 
Yarra R

anges, C
ardinia and M

urrindindi, as w
ell as 

m
any eastern M

elbourne m
etropolitan 

m
unicipalities,the FM

 transm
itter is located at

Briarty H
ill in G

ruyere.R
em

ote com
m

ercial radio 
broadcasterFlow

 FM
 on relay from

 
Kapunda/R

osew
orthy in South Australia w

ill
upgrade from

 it’s FM
 radio reception

to
im

prove the 
extended coverage of reach the Shire of Yarra 

R
anges, w

ith regions extending to greater 
M

elbourne suburbs, the 106.3 FM
 frequency in FM

transm
itter is located at M

t St Leonard.M
elbourne

D
AB+

digitalradio m
ultiplexes w

ith radio stations
extends it’s coverage area

to
reach the Shire of 

Yarra R
anges,w

ith the new
 D

AB+ repeater, w
hich 

is located at Briarty H
illfrom

 G
ruyere.

A new
 funding of $500,000 allocation for upgrade to 

radio transm
ission services, on your behalf of

Australian C
om

m
unications and M

edia Authority.

P
age 26



-
- 

 

 

 

-
-

 

– 
 

-for-
 

 

 

 

 

State and 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
is 

 
? 

 

 

-
 

-
 

P
age 27



 
 

 
 

 
-

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
, 

 
? 

Som
e 

 

  

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

P
age 28



-
-

 
  

 

 

  

              

  

P
age 29



 

2025-
-

:– 
 

  The budget content lacks appropriate detail 
. The program

 
around capital resource 

 
 

Row
 8 

 

 

ROW
 99 Do 

es 
 

Row
 117 

– 
 

Row
 122-

 
 

Row
 125 

 

-
 

 
 

Row
 187 

al 
 

 represents 
 

-
 

Expenditure Budget
 

 budget item
. 

Row
 199 Plant replacem

ent 
-26 

 but 
To split it in

. 

– Is this budget and the input processes 
 

does not help the reader get an insight into expenditure plans but it 
does raise concerns about process leading to budget inputs 

. 

 

 

   

  

 

P
age 30



-
:– 

Com
m

ents 
 In

 

Lists sale of assets but this is not addressed in the docum
ent. 

 Hardship Agreem
ents 

Do Council follow
 

 Is there a solid process around w
aiver 

or paym
ent plans for unpaid rates to ensure Council are not just treated as an easy touch but 

. 

    

  

P
age 31



P
age 32



K A L L I S T A 

SU
BM

ISSIO
N

 

YAR
R

A R
AN

G
ES C

O
U

N
C

IL 

BU
D

G
ET 2025 – 2026

P
age 33



FO
R

EW
O

R
D

 
R

esubm
ission: The Kallista F

lood W
atch G

roup resubm
its for consideration w

ith alterations our subm
ission w

hich is 
supported by the residents’ petitions signed in 2024/2025   

Y
arra R

anges Shire C
ouncil is under grow

ing pressure to deliver m
ore w

ith less. R
ising costs 

for m
aterials, labour and services are outpacing funding—

w
hile com

m
unity expectations 

continue to clim
b. R

esidents are calling not just for the m
aintenance of ageing infrastructure, 

but for serious investm
ent in sealed roads and proper drainage system

s. These aren’t 
luxuries—

they’re essential to safety, access and liveability across the region. 

U
nsealed roads in rural and peri-urban areas are deteriorating fast. They’re dusty in sum

m
er, 

m
uddy in w

inter and expensive to m
aintain—

offering only tem
porary fixes. Sealing them

 
w

ould im
prove access and safety year-round, but the costs are substantial, not only to C

ouncil 
but to residents w

ho now
 find hom

e insurance policies skyrocketing or in som
e cases –

being 
denied insurance due to ongoing m

an-m
ade flooding incidents. Sim

ilarly, outdated drainage 
system

s can’t handle today’s severe w
eather, causing flooding, erosion and property dam

age. 
Fixing them

 requires m
ajor investm

ent in clim
ate-resilient infrastructure. 

Y
et under rate-capping and lim

ited governm
ent funding, C

ouncil’s ability to m
eet these 

needs is stretched to the lim
it. Sim

ply put, the m
oney com

ing in isn’t enough to deliver the 
level of service the com

m
unity expects—

and deserves. 

This tension dem
ands honest conversations. The C

ouncil m
ust be upfront about financial 

realities, w
hile actively involving the com

m
unity in prioritising w

here lim
ited funds go. M

ore 
than ever, advocacy to state and federal governm

ents is vital—
rural councils can’t bear the 

infrastructure burden alone. 

Y
arra R

anges is at a critical juncture. W
e can’t keep doing things the sam

e w
ay. To build the 

future resilience our com
m

unity w
ants, w

e need bold thinking, strategic choices and a united 
call for the support w

e need to deliver real, lasting im
provem

ents. 

It is tim
e the Y

arra R
anges C

ouncil engaged w
ith the com

m
unity in a joint effort to petition 

State and Federal G
overnm

ents for funding. This is about a joint endeavour by the Y
arra 

R
anges C

ouncil to harness the taxpayers and ratepayers “voice” to achieve the necessary 
funding.  

P
age 34



O
V

ER
V

IEW
 

The follow
ing explores the K

allista Precinct and the relationship betw
een M

onbulk R
oad and 

three intersecting unsealed roads. W
hat is significant is the flooding im

pact from
 the m

atrix of 
steep unsealed roads upstream

 to the hom
es, properties, landscape and creek along M

onbulk 
R

oad and into the valley. 

M
onbulk R

oad runs through the M
onbulk V

alley. O
n either-side are relatively steep 1 in 9 and 

1 in 10 slopes. D
uring flash flooding events,upstream

 w
ater volum

es collect and increase as 
they flow

 dow
nstream

. This w
ater is channelled through roads into tw

o m
ain collection 

channels G
leghorn R

oad and Em
berson Street w

hich inundate M
onbulk R

oad. These roads are 
predom

inantly unsealed and present w
ith culvert drainage system

s w
ith little w

ater 
m

anagem
ent or harnessing,w

ith each road receiving w
ater from

 intersecting unsealed roads.
The flow

 on effect is flash flooding w
hich leaves in its w

ake destruction and erosion to the road 
surfaces,blocking culvert drain trenches leading to

the inundation of hom
es and properties. 

B
oth roads are m

ore than 100 years old. They are unsafe and pose a risk to residents, m
otorists 

and w
alkers.  

G
leghorn R

oad is a very im
portant access road to The Patch. It is an escape route during 

bushfires and an access for em
ergency vehicles. It is a 1 in 9 slope and it presents: 

In tim
es of storm

 events unfettered w
ater m

anagem
ent that im

pacts and floods hom
es 

and properties along M
onbulk R

oad.  
Flooding events continually cause road surface erosion and im

pacts the integrity of the 
culvert drains.  
N

o footpaths w
hich inhibitspedestrian traffic.  

Surface conditions that are unsafe and risky denying residents the ability to access 
village am

enities and beyond to forest w
alks. 

The gravel road surface is too dangerous for cyclists and contributes to vehicles sliding 
off the road into the culvert drains on a w

eekly/m
onthly basis in both w

et and dry 
conditions. 
W

ith surface conditions too risky for K
allista’schildren to ride their bikes or scooters 

and m
others w

ith pram
s or toddlers.  

O
verall conditions severely lim

it the residents’connectivity and enjoym
ent of am

enity. 

Em
berson Street is an access road for the residents on the high side of M

onbulk R
oad. It has a 

gradient of 1 in 10 so the slope and it presents: 

A
 deep culvert drain that channels w

ater onto M
onbulk R

oad and contributes to the 
flooding of hom

es/properties on the low
er side from

 Em
berson Street to R

ivington A
ve.  

D
espite considerable w

ork having been delivered to Em
berson Street, the surface still 

erodes leading to a narrow
ing of the road surface. 

R
oad surface conditions are risky and unsafe for pedestrians and residents thereby 

denying connectivity to the village and its am
enities.Surface conditions are too risky 

for children to ride bikes or scooters and m
others w

ith pram
s or toddlers.  

The surface is unsafe for vehicles and causes cars to slide into the culvert drain.  

P
age 35



R
ivington A

ve receives w
ater from

 Em
berson Street and

M
onbulk R

oad. A
 storm

w
ater pipe 

(located behind the properties from
 the G

eneral Store to R
ivington A

ve) flow
s from

 O
w

en 
Street (through an old easem

ent know
n as Parsons Lane) that runs along the back of the hom

es 
to the low

est point of R
ivington A

ve. A
t its low

est point at the base of the M
onbulk V

alley is 
the headw

ater to the creek. This avenue is flooded by m
ultiple

sources of w
ater. It presents: 

Poor m
aintenance of the culvert drainage system

. 
N

o w
ater m

anagem
ent w

hich contributes to hom
es/properties on the low

 side being 
inundated. 
The road surface is unsafe due to the extensive flooding, unsealed surfaces and the very 
hum

ble antiquated drainage system
. 

In w
inter w

ith num
erous potholes and bog like m

uddy conditions due to lack of w
ater 

m
anagem

ent.  
C

ars slide across the surface. 
Surface conditions are too risky for children to ride bikes or scooters and m

others w
ith 

pram
s or toddlers.  

M
onbulk R

oad is a State road and holds a “C
” classification for tourism

 and econom
ic 

activities. The current traffic count is 8,600 vehicles a day thatrisesto 15,000 plus during 
heightened festivals, events and holidays. Through advocacy by the K

allista Flood W
atch 

G
roup, the D

epartm
ent of Transport and Planning have com

m
itted to the upgrading of 

M
onbulk R

oad. This is subject to funding w
ith a B

usiness C
ase having been subm

itted to the 
V

ictorian G
overnm

ent Treasury. It is vital that the Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil’s three intersecting 

roads - G
leghorn R

oad, Em
berson Street and R

ivington A
ve - be upgraded w

ith sealed surfaces 
drainage and infrastructure to deter the flooding volum

es and integrate to
support a good 

outcom
e on

M
onbulk R

oad, K
allista. 

P
age 36



C
O

N
TEN

TS 

This docum
ent has been prepared for the K

allista Residential Com
m

unity  
by the K

allista Flood W
atch G

roup 
A

uthored by K
aren K

estigian  
  

Forew
ord 

O
verview

 

K
allista Precinct 

Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil – D

raft B
udget –

“O
ur Purpose”

K
allista Subm

ission: 

A
pplication 

Funding Subm
ission 

R
oads &

 Streets 
Estim

ated Costings 
  

Priority R
oads C

riteria &
 Petitions: 

G
leghorn Road – signatories 137 

Em
berson Street- signatories 15 

R
ivington A

ve – signatories 18 

P
age 37



K
A

L
L

IST
A

 PR
E

C
IN

C
T

 

K
allista has 22

unsealed roads. N
one of w

hich w
ere sealed under the R

oads for C
om

m
unity 

Funding initiative before it w
as w

ithdraw
n in 2022. The com

m
unity has m

ore unsealed roads 
than its neighbouring tow

ns and villages. K
allista’s road surfaces and antiquated drainage 

system
s are the cause of ongoing safety issues and flooding of hom

es particularly in the 
central residential areas surrounding the village. K

allista is not on a flood plain our floods are 
m

an-m
ade. A

s a result of flooding events and being in an identified
bush fire zone residents 

face increased insurance prem
ium

s w
ith som

e insurers refusing to insure. 

In scoping thisbudget subm
ission, w

e have isolated the residential sector of K
allista that is 

m
ost at risk. It is adjacent to the K

allista V
illage and concentrated across the slopes. W

e have 
chosen to identify this zone asthe K

allista Precinct.  

The K
allista Precinct borders: 
B

raeside A
ve, Sherbrooke –

on the w
estern ridge overlooking K

allista –and is the 
upstream

 flooding point to O
w

en Street and R
ivington A

ve. 
Sherbrooke R

oad, K
allista –

on the w
estern side of the Precinct. 

K
allista –Em

erald R
oad –

the eastern ridge overlooking K
allista –

and is the upstream
 

point to the flooding channels of G
leghorn R

oad and Em
berson Street. 

M
onbulk R

oad runs through the M
onbulk V

alley –
this is the dow

nstream
 im

pact 
collection point. 

The Eastern Side of M
onbulk R

oad - U
nsealed R

oads: 
The tw

o unsealed roads responsible for flooding hom
es and properties on M

onbulk R
oad are: 

Em
berson Street  

G
leghorn R

oad 

The Eastern/W
estern Sides of M

onbulk R
oad - U

nsealed R
oads: 

The unsealed roads responsible for flooding R
ivington A

ve., hom
es and properties are: 

Em
berson Street  

O
w

en Street 

U
pstream

: 
Em

berson Street and G
leghorn R

oad receive volum
es from

 the unsealed roads on the eastern 
side that run parallel to M

onbulk R
oad across the slope. These roads act as channels for w

ater 
and the follow

ing unsealed streets/roads and avenues feed into them
: 

H
elena A

ve 
 

 
 

R
oyle A

ve 
C

larkson R
oad 

N
orton R

oad 

Ivy A
ve 

B
aringa A

ve 
St Jam

es and A
delaide A

ve. 

A
dditionally,Sunnyslopes R

oad and Pickering Place receive flooding from
 G

leghorn R
oad. 

The upstream
 sources are H

elena A
ve and R

oyle A
ve. 

D
ow

nstream
:  

H
om

es,properties, the creek and environm
ental easem

ent are flooded on the low
 side of 

M
onbulk R

oad from
 Em

berson Street to Perrins C
reek R

oad and R
ivington A

ve. 

P
age 38



In total there are 13
unsealed roads w

ithin the K
allista Precinct. M

onbulk R
oad is a “C

” class
busy tourist and econom

ic route thatis an extension of Burw
ood H

ighw
ay w

hich provides 
access from

 the inner suburbs of M
elbourne to the Y

arra V
alley and beyond.  

The roads and streets of the K
allista Precinct are 100 years-plus old. W

hile the unsealed roads 
w

ere acceptable som
e 20 years ago,they are no longer fit-for-purpose. Sim

ilarly and in a 
w

orse and w
orsening condition are the three access roads of G

leghorn R
oad, Em

berson Street 
and R

ivington A
ve. D

espite increased m
aintenance and lim

ited drainage upgrades the sad 
truth is, that unsealed roads w

ithout com
prehensive drainage system

s, are only as good as the 
next storm

 event. 

These roads connect to the K
allista Precinct residential com

m
unity’s access roads. R

esidential, 
transport and tourist traffic have increased im

pacting the road surfaces. U
nsealed roads are not 

sustainable. 

The com
m

unity petitioning illustrates that at least 98%
 of residents asked for their roads to be 

sealed. The com
m

unity’sdem
ographics have changed dram

atically in the past decade, and after 
C

ovid. Y
ounger fam

ilies have chosen to live in K
allista increasing the need for connectivity 

and com
m

unity. A
dult children have chosen to live w

ith their parents and extended fam
ilies see 

up to three generations living in one residence. The infrastructure drainage and roads have not 
been upgraded for decades and have not kept up w

ith the significant change in the 
dem

ographics. M
ore footpaths are required for ease of m

ovem
ent and connectivity to the 

village, pre-school, school and m
edical centre. 

A
M

EN
ITIES 

K
allista has few

 am
enities. The prim

ary footpath from
 Sherbrooke R

oad to R
ivington A

ve w
as 

rehabilitated this year along w
ith the path from

 C
hurch R

oad along M
onbulk R

oad to the 
K

allista D
eli (and the com

m
unity is grateful for this w

ork). The car park services the village. 
The K

allista C
om

m
unity H

ouse w
as closed at the start of C

ovid and has never reopened. There 
is no play-space for the children, no com

m
unity centre or library, no pocket park, no crossw

alk 
and no connecting footpaths from

 the unsealed roads and streets.  

A
 vital 100-year-old ‘bush track” along the high side of M

onbulk R
oad from

 G
leghorn R

oad to 
Em

berson Street is im
portant for resident connectivity. It is degrading at the corner of G

leghorn 
and M

onbulk R
oads. It is used by residents and school children as the crossing of M

onbulk 
road has becom

e hazardous due to the increased volum
es of traffic. W

e have asked previously 
for this track to be recognised as an essential footpath w

ith the necessary infrastructure. It is 
dangerous and becom

ing m
ore so as tim

e passes. Please give consideration to the delivery of an 
acceptable sustainable footpath. 

W
hile the residents are told their rates form

 a m
ajor funding for civic building of com

m
unity 

am
enities,there are very few

 such public am
enities in K

allista. O
ur com

m
unity suffers from

 a 
dichotom

y w
here w

e have been advised m
any tim

es that there has to be equity across the Shire.
W

e can attest given the very poor infrastructure in K
allista, w

e have not been the beneficiaries 
of equity for several decades.

P
age 39



A
C

C
ESS, SA

FETY
 A

N
D

 R
ISK

  

The serious lack of upgrading over m
any decades has led to dilapidation and dysfunctional 

roads, infrastructure and am
enities. A

t a tim
e w

hen all levels of G
overnm

ent support the 
strategy of connectivity w

ithin a com
m

unity, for all ages to w
alk and exercise, for older 

residents to m
ove and socialise w

ithin their com
m

unity, this level of access is being denied in 
K

allista. The Precinct w
e identify is just tw

o m
inutes from

 the estim
ated $9.8 m

illion 
R

idgew
alk w

hich is fully funded by local, state and federal governm
ents. A

re these senior 
governm

ent levels aw
are of the dichotom

y that exists just tw
o m

inutes aw
ay in the K

allista 
Precinct,w

hich harbours unsafe, risky conditions?  

Through
the K

allista R
eport, the Flood and R

esidents Speak videos w
e subm

itted to C
ouncil,

State and Federal M
em

bersin D
ecem

ber2023,w
e have presented a

docum
ented

briefing ofthe
serious conditions that exist in K

allista.In M
arch 2023, at a com

m
unity m

eeting residents 
presented the issues to

all levels of governm
ent.That m

eeting w
as not about the R

oads for 
C

om
m

unity funding w
ithdraw

al, it w
as about the social w

ellbeing, m
ental w

elfare and safety 
risks that the com

m
unity felt.They reported trucks and cars running off unsealed the roads.The 

lim
ited access from

 M
onbulk R

oad to G
leghorn R

oad m
eans that ifa truck is com

ing dow
n the 

slope and a sedan has already started to enterthe road it has to back dow
n onto M

onbulk R
oad.

There are no turning circlesor passing bays.This is dangerous. A
ccessand egressto M

onbulk 
R

oad isnarrow
 and

hazardous.The poor, unsafe, unsealed
surfacesand deep culvert conditions 

existing on all these
narrow

 roadsare
concerning as isthe

access needs for em
ergency vehicles. 

Tw
o cars cannotpass on these localroads. The fearis real,that during a bush fire,access w

ill be 
lim

ited or denied. R
ecreational cyclists and w

alkers cannot use
these roads w

ithout risk
and there 

are no footpaths. V
ehicle accidents are a com

m
on occurrence, indeed alm

ost on a w
eekly

basis.
The gravel surfaces are responsible for m

any cars and pedestrian accidents. The risk to elderly 
and

vulnerable residents is unacceptable under these conditions. It is im
pacting on their m

ental 
state. That w

as evident during the M
arch 2023

public m
eeting

and yet there has been no 
sustainable solution or strategy to address these serious issues. 

Please be aw
are the K

allista Precinct’s lack of upgraded infrastructure is decades old. The 
flooding events have occurred since the beginning of the com

m
unity in 1860. The existing 

roads w
ere cut by loggers and little has changed since the days of horse and dray. There is 

nothing rom
antic about these conditions thatare im

pacting the health and w
ellbeing of the 

com
m

unity
and denying safe m

ovem
ent around the com

m
unity.The residents are faced w

ith 
m

ounting risks w
here safe passage either on foot or by car carries deep concerns and w

orry. 
The com

m
unity needs better sustainable solutions. O

ur needs are sim
ple, w

e are asking for 
basic infrastructure.                                           

C
lim

ate change events are happening m
ore regularly w

hether it is flooding or bushfires. Either
w

ay, K
allista is not sustained nor is it resilient. There

is a m
oral obligation

by the local 
governm

ent w
ho are responsible for local roads to support the ratepayers. R

esidents ask w
hat 

have w
e received in the past tw

o decades?                                                     

For those sitting C
ouncillors of m

any years, you know
 our com

m
unity has received very little 

sustainable
basic

infrastructure upgrades. If w
e had,there w

ould
be no

need for us to advocate 
to

all levels of governm
ent,overthe

past three
years, to resolve the m

any issues w
e face.

K
allista desperately needs sustainability for the com

m
unity’s w

ellness and w
ell-being, 

connectivity, safety and m
ental health. A

ll of w
hich has hit hard in the last few

 years w
ith the 

flooding events and road conditions. W
e are the village tim

e forgot. W
e fell through the cracks 

of developm
ent but the residents dutifully paid their taxes and rates. They respected their 

obligations to all levels of G
overnm

ent. 

P
age 40



K
A

L
L

IST
A

 SU
B

M
ISSIO

N
 A

PPL
IC

A
T

IO
N

 

TH
E Y

A
R

R
A

 R
A

N
G

ES C
O

U
N

C
IL B

U
D

G
ET 2025/2026

The im
m

ediate need for the K
allista Precinct is the delivery of sustainable infrastructure, road 

sealing and com
prehensive drainage to: 

G
leghorn R

oad, Em
berson Street and R

ivington A
ve. 

The necessary infrastructure to support the integration of these three roads to the proposed 
upgrade for M

onbulk R
oad by the V

ictorian State G
overnm

ent and its D
epartm

ent of 
Transport and Planning. The funding for this project having been encom

passed in a 
subm

ission B
usiness C

ase to the State Treasurer’s B
udget.  

The sealing and drainage of these three roads should not be predicated on the outcom
e of the 

M
onbulk R

oad B
usiness C

ase. There is an im
m

ediate need to undertake the sustainable w
ork 

required of these
unsealed K

allista R
oads. Surveying and design is already being undertaken 

by the D
TP of w

hich the Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil’s Infrastructure O

fficers are acquainted. 
W

ork on the Y
R

C
 roads is urgent. The unsafe conditions and im

pacts are no longer tolerable. 
Further,the constituents have m

ore than paid for the necessary sustainable w
ork for 

G
leghorn

R
oad, Em

berson Street and R
ivington A

ve. 

P
age 41



G
iven the current conditions of these three roads and the need for a com

m
itm

ent to 
deliver the very necessary sustainable sealing, drainage and infrastructure, w

e ask that 
you endorse them

 w
ith Priority

R
oad Status. 

K
A

L
L

IST
A

 FU
N

D
IN

G
 SU

B
M

ISSIO
N

 

W
e ask that sustainable road sealing and infrastructure w

ith com
prehensive drainage and storm

 
w

ater m
anagem

ent be delivered to the Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil’s roads of:

G
leghorn R

oad estim
ated at $3,450,000 including 15%

 contingency 
Em

berson Street estim
ated at $494,500 including 15%

 contingency 
R

ivington A
ve., estim

ated at $853,300 including 15%
 contingency   

To receive these allocations the Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil B

udget 2024 – 2025.

Special C
harge Schem

e: 

W
e further request that no Special C

harges Schem
e be attached to this funding application. 

M
any residents have lived on these roads for several decades. They are retired and

pensioners, 
m

any of w
hom

 live on a fixed incom
e. N

um
erous tim

es over several decades these residents 
have either advocated or been prom

ised that the roads and the necessary infrastructure w
ould 

be upgraded. Those prom
ises w

ere never delivered. In the m
eantim

e residents have paid rates 
for declining, dysfunctional and dilapidating conditions.  

PR
IO

R
ITY

 R
O

A
D

 C
R

ITER
IA

To support the Priority Status of these roads, w
e refer to a draft docum

ent prepared by     
M

r K
im

 O
’C

onnor, Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil’s M

anager, Infrastructure Services. A
 copy of   

w
hich, w

as provided on January 9, 2024 by the
M

ayor, C
r Sophie Todorov to               

M
ark and K

aren K
estigian, K

allista Flood W
atch G

roup advocates.                       
That docum

ent proposed a Priority R
oads C

riteria.                                    
B

ased on that “C
riteria”

w
e have prepared a Priority R

oads C
riteria R

eport for each of 
these roads w

hich is supported by petitions from
 K

allista residents.
 

P
age 42



P
age 43



P
age 44



Y
A

R
R

A
 R

A
N

G
E

S C
O

U
N

C
IL

 –
ST

R
A

T
E

G
IC

 A
PPR

O
A

C
H

 
T

O
  

PR
IO

R
IT

ISIN
G

 U
N

SE
A

L
E

D
 R

O
A

D
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
 

G
L

E
G

H
O

R
N

 R
O

A
D

 - PR
IO

R
IT

Y
 R

O
A

D
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 R

E
PO

R
T

 

A
buttal D

ensity: N
um

ber of properties along the road to be constructed. 
G

leghorn R
oad has 31 residential properties

C
onnectivity: R

oad connects tow
nships or to other m

ain roads 
G

leghorn R
oad connects w

ith M
onbulk R

oad, K
allista through to the Em

erald-
K

allista R
oad at The Patch.

Itis an im
portant access road to M

onbulk R
oad linking The Patch and K

allista to the 
broader H

ills com
m

unity, M
onbulk and B

elgrave and connecting it to m
etropolitan 

M
elbourne, the Y

arra V
alley and G

ippsland. 
Im

portantly
this access road provides a vital access during bush fire em

ergencies as a
direct route from

 The Patch to K
allista, M

onbulk and B
elgrave. If Sherbrooke R

oad 
proves inaccessible,G

leghorn R
oad w

ould be a valuable road of last resort for the
com

m
unity. 

G
leghorn R

oad connects w
ith M

onbulk R
oad, a m

ajor “C
” class road w

ith over 8,600 
vehicles per day and rising to 15,000 vehicles during peak event/tourist periods. 
The V

ictorian State G
overnm

ent has acknow
ledged the need to upgrade M

onbulk 
R

oad w
hich is the subject of a B

usiness C
ase to Treasury by the D

epartm
ent of 

Transport and Planning. (In 2022 the then M
inister for Roads,the H

on Ben C
arroll 

M
P,declared M

onbulk Road a “hot spot” for flooding. Those floods em
anating from

 
G

leghorn Road and the need to upgrade drainage and infrastructure).  
Sunnyslopes R

oad, Pickering Place, H
elena A

ve, C
larkson R

oad, N
orton R

oad, 
B

aringa A
ve, St Jam

es/ A
delaide A

ve. the Em
erald K

allista R
oad and M

onbulk R
oad 

all connect w
ith G

leghorn R
oad –

it is a m
ajor access for these roads.  

C
ollectively, these roads service over 90 residences highlighting the need for 

em
ergency and service vehicle access. 

R
esidences have betw

een tw
o to three vehicles. G

leghorn R
oad facilitates at least 270 

com
m

unity vehicles and additionally delivery trucks, em
ergency services and tourist 

traffic seeking access to The Patch, K
allista,the surrounding villages, cafes, 

kindergartens and prim
ary schools, m

edical centres, sports centres and facilities.  

This R
eport undertakesto establish G

leghorn R
oad, K

allista as a “Priority R
oad”

for 
drainage and sealing.It is accom

panied by a residents’ petition advocating for 
drainage and surfacing of this vital access road.

The criteria used in this report w
as advised in a draft docum

entprepared
by

C
ouncil O

fficers: M
r K

im
 O

’C
onnor & M

r H
jalm

ar Philipp
and p rovided to the 

K
allista Flood W

atch G
roup by 

M
ayor, C

r Sophie Todorov
on January 9, 2024

P
age 45



G
leghorn R

oad is listed on the satellite navigation app used by com
m

ercial delivery 
drivers. This narrow

 w
idth road, w

ith com
prom

ising surfaces conditions and steep 
incline,contributes to regular accidents to all classes of vehicles.   
M

onbulk R
oad is an extension of Burw

ood H
ighw

ay and provides connectivity to the 
Y

arra V
alley and its environs. 

G
leghorn R

oad offers the opportunity to access those regions by connecting m
otorists 

from
 Em

erald and surrounding regions,to by-pass the increasing traffic congestion of 
B

elgrave and along M
onbulk R

oad (from
 B

elgrave to K
allista). 

M
aintenance Issues: H

igh num
ber of m

aintenance requests on road. 
This is a m

atter of conjecture. M
any residents over decades have lodged num

erous 
com

plaints about road m
aintenance and drainage only to find their com

plaints are 
“lost” or m

arked resolved
w

hen in fact they rem
ain outstanding. 

There appears to be a “disconnect” betw
een the Y

arra R
anges C

ouncil and reporting 
by contractors or lack of supervision and inspection of com

pleted w
ork, leading to 

inadequate resolution and a continuation of the sam
e issues despite m

ultiple repair or 
m

itigation attem
pts. 

Further to this, a w
ork team

 at considerable cost, w
ill arrive to fill potholes, near the 

sam
e location a drain is blocked w

ith debris......a resident w
ill ask if the team

 could 
clear the drain and inevitably the response is no, som

eone else has to attend to that!! 
W

hat w
e can’t understand is how

 there m
ight be a “m

ulti task” team
 that can 

efficiently attend to several different jobs and com
plete accom

panying issues at the 
sam

e tim
e. 

The K
allista Flood W

atch G
roup has advocated for the drainage and sealing of 

G
leghorn R

oad because m
aintenance issues (even today) rem

ain unresolved leading 
to flash flooding of hom

es on M
onbulk R

oad.  
G

leghorn R
oad w

ith a gradient of 1 in 9 (at the M
onbulk R

oad end) has a propensity 
for flash flooding. It requires an inordinate level of m

aintenance and service. D
espite 

the 100 m
etres of bitum

en laid in 2023, heavy show
ers im

pact the unsealed section of 
the road resulting in surface erosion that w

ashes dow
n onto M

onbulk R
oad

blocking 
the culvert drains and leading to flooding of hom

es. 
D

uring rain events the collector roads of St Jam
es A

ve, B
aringa A

ve, N
orton and 

C
larkson R

oads (at the M
onbulk R

oad end) flow
 from

 the high end of the slope dow
n 

onto G
leghorn R

oad. W
ater ultim

ately collects as m
assive flow

s flooding M
onbulk 

R
oad hom

es and properties. 
The debris, soil and gravel from

 the unsealed roads have infected the landscape and 
creek. W

e have been inform
ed by Y

R
C

 O
fficers that rem

oving gravel from
 the creek 

is too difficult, so it continues to m
ount. 

A
s recently as January 7

&
8, 2024 the culverts trenches on M

onbulk R
oad 

overflow
ed due to G

leghorn R
oad and the volum

e of w
ater m

ixed w
ith gravel and silt. 

H
om

es, properties and the gravel footpath w
ere flooded along M

onbulk R
oad. A

n 
inspection prior to the storm

 show
ed the culvert trenches being relatively clean and 

open for w
ater flow

s. D
uring the storm

 a series of ponds developed in the culvert 
because the gravel from

 G
leghorn R

oad blocked this drainage system
, resulting in the

flooding of our hom
es. 

The problem
 lies w

ith the unsealed roads. The road condition is only as good as the 
last grading. W

ithin just 30
m

inutes of a heavy deluge, any grading that has been 
com

pleted is w
ashed aw

ay. The deluges are m
ore frequent and the volum

es are 
greater. 

P
age 46



A
ccording to the Y

arra R
anges C

ouncil’sw
ebsite, G

leghorn R
oad is scheduled for 

four gradings per year. The intersecting roads are scheduled for three per year.D
ue to 

the rainfall and the num
ber of vehicles that use these roads,the current m

aintenance 
schedule does not resolve the issues on G

leghorn R
oad or the intersecting roads. 

G
leghorn R

oad at the Em
erald-K

allista R
oad end, is inundated by w

ater from
 the 

slopes. The victim
s to these floods are the properties on the low

 side of G
leghorn 

R
oad across from

 H
elena A

ve and R
oyle A

ve. B
oth those roads run across the ridge 

and slope dow
n to G

leghorn and Sunnyslopes R
oads w

here the properties receive 
huge volum

es of w
ater. 

These floods are m
an-m

ade created by lack of infrastructure on unsealed roads w
ith 

antiquated drainage system
s and com

pounded by the ridge and slope.  
There is no harnessing or m

anagem
ent of the volum

es of w
ater on G

leghorn R
oad. 

The m
aintenance practices on the unsealed road surfaces of G

leghorn R
oad are a 

direct contributor to the flash flooding of hom
es and properties. W

ith every regrading 
com

es another load of gravel. That gravel contributes to blockages of the culvert 
trench drains on G

leghorn and M
onbulk R

oads. The drains are not inspected, serviced 
and m

aintained regularly to stop debris and gravel blockages. To m
aintain the current 

drainage system
 to a reasonable standard, the culvert trenches and w

all-drains need to 
be cleaned m

onthly or before and after storm
 events. 

The unsealed surface of G
leghorn R

oad is not fit-for-purpose. C
onsidering the 

num
ber of vehicles that use it daily, safety is a huge issue. N

um
erous vehicles have 

slid across the unsealed gravel surface w
ith m

any being lodged in eroding culvert 
trenches, this is a significant m

aintenance issue. O
ver a ten day period in February 

2025 five vehicles slid off the road into the culverts.  
G

leghorn R
oad’s m

aintenance does not provide a perm
anent safe surface for cycling 

or w
alking. The condition of the road has been responsible for m

any accidents. The 
road is easily degraded through traffic use and rain events resulting in large potholes 
or ravines across surface rendering the surface unsafe.   
The only sustainable solution is a com

prehensive drainage and sealed road 
infrastructure. W

ith increasing storm
 and clim

ate change events, rising costs and
the

need for m
ore grading, this unsealed road w

ill exponentially increase m
aintenance 

costs. A
 fully incorporated sustainable drainage and sealed road is surely the best 

solution. 
There is a vital need to respect the D

epartm
ent of Transport and Planning’s 

infrastructure project for M
onbulk R

oad. The Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil’s roads m

ust be 
integrated to this upgrade to support and provide a good outcom

e for the w
ork and 

investm
ent undertaken by the V

ictorian State G
overnm

ent.  
G

leghorn R
oad is dangerously narrow

 and tree lined inhibiting tw
o vehicles to safely 

pass and
there are no turning circle allow

ances. V
ehicles fall-off into culvert drains or 

across the road, further com
pounded by the steep em

bankm
ents on the high side of 

the road.This adds to the m
aintenance problem

,because the road iscontinually 
eroding as a result of rain and

traffic.  
W

ith unsealed surfaces it is difficult to “reform
”

culvert drains once the heavy storm
 

season sets in. Even w
ith norm

al rain,once the culvert drains erode, the erosion 
continues.  

P
age 47



Special C
harge Schem

e:  T
o construct a road. 

M
any residents on G

leghorn R
oad have resided there for decades.  They have paid 

rates and asked on num
erous occasions to have the road sealed. It is reported that 

G
leghorn R

oad w
as gazetted to be sealed before W

W
II. D

ue to the shortage of 
m

anpow
er,the road w

asn’t sealed.
O

ver the years, firstly w
ith the Sherbrooke Shire and then w

ith the Y
arra R

anges 
C

ouncil, residents have held m
eetings to advocate for G

leghorn R
oad to be sealed 

w
ith nothing being resolved (except for 100 m

etres of bitum
en installed in 2023 out of 

the 1,492 m
etre stretch).  

A
 high representation of older residents reside on G

leghorn R
oad and throughout the 

intersecting roads. These residents have paid rates for decades w
ithout m

ajor drainage 
or road infrastructure im

provem
ents being delivered. The road’s condition is now

 
im

pacting their w
ellbeing and health. M

any no longer trust the road’s surface and w
ill 

not w
alk it. A

t a tim
e w

hen all G
overnm

ent bodies encourage senior citizens to 
rem

ain independent in their hom
es,continue to exercise through daily w

alking (w
hich 

m
any w

ould very m
uch like to do),their m

ovem
ent is restricted by the road surface 

condition that poses risk and there is no
footpath.   

G
leghorn R

oad residents w
ant it sealed. If a Special C

harge Schem
e is being 

considered, then w
ith respect, the Y

arra R
anges C

ouncil m
ight com

passionately 
consider how

 the residents have paid rates over m
any decades w

ith no m
eaningful 

infrastructure im
provem

ents.  
The residents pay the sam

e rates as other residential com
m

unities across the Shire 
w

here access roads have com
prehensive drainage system

s and sealed road 
infrastructure. 
G

leghorn R
oad and its associated intersecting roads,residents have through their rates 

supported infrastructure in other com
m

unities w
hile their needs have been sacrificed. 

The road seriously needs over-due sustainable solutions particularly in integrating 
w

ith the proposed infrastructure upgrades on M
onbulk R

oad. 

Petition: R
eceived from

 abutting landow
ners requesting C

ouncil investigate 
constructing their road. 

A
 form

al Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil residents’petition accom

panies and supports this 
report. 
Petitioning by residents has taken place over m

any decades.  
O

ver the past few
 years through various levels of advocacy,w

e have asked on behalf 
of the residents for the drainage and sealing of G

leghorn R
oad. W

e produced a video 
w

ith residents clearly advocating for sustainable infrastructure.   
The K

allista Flood W
atch G

roup supported the Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil w

ith direct 
advocacy to the H

on C
atherine K

ing M
P –

Federal M
inister for R

oads,to have the 
R

oads for the C
om

m
unity funding restored specifically m

entioning G
leghorn R

oad, 
Em

berson Street and R
ivington A

ve. 
W

e have advocated the need for G
leghorn R

oad infrastructure to the Federal M
em

ber 
for C

asey, M
r A

aron V
ioli M

P, the V
ictorian M

em
ber for M

onbulk, M
s D

aniela de 
M

artino M
P and the V

ictorian M
inister for R

oads, the H
on M

elissa H
orne M

P. 
O

n all levels w
e believe G

leghorn R
oad m

eets the Priority R
oads criteria as advised in 

the Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil’s draft docum

ent. 
Please com

m
it to m

aking G
leghorn R

oad a Priority R
oad for a sealing, drainage and 

infrastructure upgrade to supportthe needs of the K
allista C

om
m

unity, tourists, 
delivery and

em
ergency services vehicles and the general w

elfare of all m
otorists. 

[Grab

P
age 48



P
age 49



P
age 50



P
age 51



P
age 52



P
age 53



P
age 54



P
age 55



P
age 56



P
age 57



P
age 58



P
age 59



P
age 60



P
age 61



P
age 62



P
age 63



P
age 64



P
age 65



P
age 66



Y
A

R
R

A
 R

A
N

G
E

S C
O

U
N

C
IL

 –
ST

R
A

T
E

G
IC

 A
PPR

O
A

C
H

 
T

O
  

PR
IO

R
IT

ISIN
G

 U
N

SE
A

L
E

D
 R

O
A

D
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
 

E
M

B
E

R
SO

N
 ST

R
EE

T
 - PR

IO
R

IT
Y

 R
O

A
D

 C
R

IT
E

R
IA

 R
E

PO
R

T
 

A
buttal D

ensity: N
um

ber of properties along the road to be constructed. 
Em

berson Street has 11
residential properties 

C
onnectivity: R

oad connects tow
nships or to other m

ain roads. 
This street connects w

ith M
onbulk R

oad, Ivy A
ve and B

aringa A
ve.  

Em
berson Street is an im

portant connection to M
onbulk R

oad and provides access for 
residents on the intersecting roads of Ivy and B

aringa A
venues. The avenue connects 

to Tom
 R

oberts R
oad via B

aringa A
ve w

hich also connects w
ith G

leghorn R
oad and 

providesan alternate access to M
onbulk R

oad. 
M

onbulk R
oad, is a m

ajor “C
” class road w

ith over 8,600 rising to 15,000 vehicles 
per day (in peak event/tourist periods).The V

ictorian State G
overnm

ent has 
acknow

ledged the need to upgrade M
onbulk R

oad infrastructure w
hich is the subject 

of a B
usiness C

ase to Treasury by the D
epartm

ent of Transport and Planning. 
In 2022 the then M

inister for R
oads, the H

on B
en C

arroll M
P declared M

onbulk 
R

oad, K
allista a “hot spot” for flooding. Em

berson Street contributes to that flooding.  
Em

berson Street through its access collectively services 49 properties.  
It provides an alternative to G

leghorn R
oad in accessing the roads further up the 

slope. This highlights the need for em
ergency and service vehicle access. 

M
ost residents have betw

een tw
o and three vehicles so Em

berson Street potentially 
provides access for 147 com

m
unity vehicles along w

ith, delivery trucks, em
ergency 

services and tourists connecting w
ith M

onbulk R
oad. 

Em
berson Street intersects w

ith M
onbulk R

oad and connects m
otorists w

ith the 
K

allista village, B
elgrave, M

onbulk, the H
ills’ com

m
unities and beyond. 

This R
eport undertakesto establish Em

berson Street, K
allista as a “Priority R

oad”
for drainage and sealing.It is accom

panied by a residents’ petition advocating for 
drainage and surfacing of this vital access road.

The criteria used in this report w
as advised in a draft docum

entprepared
B

y
C

ouncil O
fficers: M

r K
im

 O
’C

onnor & M
r H

jalm
ar Philipp

and p rovided to the 
K

allista Flood W
atch G

roup by
M

ayor, C
r Sophie Todorov

on January 9, 2024

P
age 67



M
aintenance Issues: H

igh num
ber of m

aintenance requests on road.  
R

esidents have lodged com
plaints about road m

aintenance, surface and drainage 
issues.
The drainage and sealing of Em

berson Street is vital as existing m
aintenance issues 

rem
ain unresolved leading to flash flooding of hom

es and properties on M
onbulk 

R
oad and R

ivington A
ve.  

Em
berson Street has a gradient of 1 in 10 w

hich delivers flash flooding events on 
M

onbulk R
oad. It requires an inordinate level of m

aintenance and service. D
uring 

heavy show
ers,the road surface is further eroded and w

ashes dow
n onto M

onbulk 
R

oad. 
The debris, soil and gravel leave deposits on M

onbulk R
oad creating hazardous 

driving conditions. M
eanw

hile M
onbulk R

oad properties, landscape and creek fall 
victim

 to the sam
e deposits.  

The volum
es of w

ater im
pact the creek em

bankm
ents w

hich are eroding and the 
gravel deposits cannot be rem

oved.  
D

uring rain events,Tom
 R

oberts R
oad, Ivy and B

aringa A
venues flood into 

Em
berson Street. The steep slope encourages “flow

” acceleration onto M
onbulk R

oad 
w

here the w
ater splays hazardously across the road.  

The m
aintenance of the culvert drainage system

 and w
all-drains is constant. 

D
espite upgrades recent deluges there w

as a repetition of flooding to M
onbulk road 

and the new
ly constructed footpath. In fact residents on R

ivington A
ve –

being 
dow

nstream
 –

reported even heavier inundation.  
The problem

 lies w
ith the unsealed roads. The condition being only as good as the last 

grading. H
eavy regular deluges com

pletely w
ash aw

ay road surfaces and these 
deluges are becom

ing m
ore frequent w

ith greater volum
es. The afterm

ath of storm
s 

m
eans Y

R
C

 resources are in high dem
and and very often the m

aintenance issues on 
Em

berson Street are delayed only to be im
pacted again and again w

ithout having 
received any service or m

aintenance.  
Such issues are left to the resident to resolve.  
D

ue to the rainfall and traffic usage,the current m
aintenance does not resolve the 

issues on Em
berson Street.

In the dry w
eather the gravel on the road surface is likened to m

arbles. C
ars slide 

across the surface and end up in the culvert drain. It is exceptionally dangerous and 
unsafe. M

any residents w
ill not use the road due to these “traction”

issues and 
steepness of the slope. 
The Em

berson Street floods are m
an-m

ade due to the unsealed road surface and an 
antiquated drainage system

 that is com
pounded by the slope.  

There is lim
ited harnessing or m

anagem
ent of the volum

es of w
ater on Em

berson 
Street. The m

aintenance practices on the unsealed road surfaces are a direct 
contributor to the flash flooding of hom

es and properties. W
ith every grading com

es 
another load of gravel. That gravel contributes to blockages to the culvert drains.  
To m

aintain the current drainage system
 to a reasonable standard, m

onthly cleaning is 
required.
Em

berson Street’s m
aintenance does not provide a perm

anent safe surface for cycling 
or w

alking.  
The condition of the road has been responsible for m

any accidents. The road is easily 
degraded through traffic use and rain events w

hich create ravines across surface 
m

aking it unsafe.   

P
age 68



The only long-term
 sustainable solution is com

prehensive drainage and sealed road 
infrastructures. W

ith increasing events, clim
ate change, rising costs and the need for 

m
ore grading of this unsealed road, m

aintenance costs w
ill increase. A

 fully 
incorporated sustainable drainage and sealed road has to be the best solution. 
There is a need too in respect of the D

epartm
ent of Transport and Planning’s 

infrastructure upgrade for M
onbulk R

oad. A
s a Local G

overnm
ent body, the Y

arra 
R

anges C
ouncil w

ould, w
e hope, w

ant to support and provide a good outcom
e for the 

w
ork being undertaken by the State G

overnm
ent.  

Em
berson Street is narrow

. Inevitably vehicles end up in the culvert drains or across 
the road. This is a m

aintenance problem
 because the road continually erodes due to 

the com
bination of rain, traffic usage and culvert drains eroding.  

W
ith an unsealed surface,it is difficult to “reform

”
culvert drains once the heavy 

storm
 season sets in. Even w

ith norm
al rain once the culvert drains erode, the erosion 

continues.  

Special C
harge Schem

e: T
o construct a road. 

Som
e residents on Em

berson Street have lived there for decades.  
A

ll have paid rates and have asked for the road to be sealed.  
Em

berson Street is 100 years old and requires an upgrade,but it should not be at the 
expense of the residents. N

o sustainable upgrades have taken place on that street for 
over 40 years.  
R

esidents w
ant it sealed. If a Special C

harge Schem
e is being considered, then w

e ask 
the Y

arra R
anges C

ouncil to com
passionately consider how

 the residents have paid 
their rates over several decades w

ith no m
eaningful infrastructure im

provem
ents.  

The residents have paid the sam
e rates as other residential com

m
unities across the 

Shire w
here access roads have com

prehensive drainage system
s and sealed road 

surfaces. 
Em

berson Street and the surrounding roads’ residents have through rate paym
ents, 

supported infrastructure in other com
m

unities w
hile their needs have been overlooked 

and sacrificed. 
Em

berson Street needs a sustainable solution that integrates w
ith the proposed 

infrastructure upgrades on M
onbulk R

oad.

Petition: R
eceived from

 abutting landow
ners requesting C

ouncil investigate 
constructing their road. 

A
 form

al Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil petition by residents accom

panies and supports this 
criteria report. Petitioning how

ever by residents has taken place over decades.  
O

ver the past few
 years through advocacy activities,w

e have asked on behalf of 
residents, for the drainage and sealing of Em

berson Street.  
W

e supported the Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil w

ith direct advocacy to the H
on C

atherine 
K

ing M
P –

Federal M
inister for R

oads to have the R
oads for the C

om
m

unity funding 
restored specifically m

entioning G
leghorn R

oad, Em
berson Street and R

ivington A
ve. 

The K
allista Flood W

atch G
roup has brought the need for Em

berson Street 
infrastructure to the Federal M

em
ber for C

asey, M
r A

aron V
ioli M

P, the V
ictorian 

M
em

ber for M
onbulk, M

s D
aniela de M

artino M
P and the V

ictorian M
inister for 

R
oads, the H

on M
elissa H

orne M
P. 

W
e believe Em

berson Street m
eets the Priority R

oads criteria as advised in the Y
arra 

R
anges C

ouncil’s draft docum
ent.Please support our request to construct a 

sustainable road and drainage solution for Em
berson Street. 

P
age 69



P
age 70



P
age 71



P
age 72



Y
A

R
R

A
 R

A
N

G
E

S C
O

U
N

C
IL

 –
ST

R
A

T
E

G
IC

 A
PPR

O
A

C
H

 
T

O
  

PR
IO

R
IT

ISIN
G

 U
N

SE
A

L
E

D
 R

O
A

D
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
 

R
IV

IN
G

T
O

N
 A

V
E

- PR
IO

R
IT

Y
 R

O
A

D
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 R

E
PO

R
T

 

A
buttal D

ensity: N
um

ber of properties along the road to be constructed.  
R

ivington A
ve has 14 residential properties

C
onnectivity: R

oad connects tow
nships or to other m

ain road      
This avenue connects w

ith M
onbulk R

oad through to O
w

en Street w
hich provides 

access to Sherbrooke R
oad, K

allista.   
R

ivington A
ve has a uniquely im

portant connection to M
onbulk R

oad, as it not only 
provides access for residents,but to

the substantial traffic related to the iconic K
allista 

Tearoom
s.  

The K
allista Tearoom

s services 1,000 patrons w
eekly. The car parks supporting the 

Tearoom
s’ trade, are located on R

ivington A
ve. C

onservatively the num
ber of 

patrons’cars are estim
ated at 350 per w

eek. There is no other m
ultiple car parking 

facilities servicing the Tearoom
s including roadside parking. The connectivity of this 

avenue is to an im
m

ediate successful tourist destination. 
R

ivington A
ve is the third unsealed K

allista road that intersects w
ith M

onbulk R
oad 

and is part of the m
ajor “C

” class road upgrade. R
esidents understand their 

connectivity w
ith M

onbulk R
oad given the now

 bustling traffic conditions generated 
by the Tearoom

s. 
The traffic on M

onbulk R
oad ranges from

 8,600 rising to 15,000 vehicles per day (in 
peak event/tourist periods) along w

ith increasing local traffic to R
ivington A

ve. 
M

otorists are now
 choosing to use R

ivington A
ve to access O

w
en Street and exit via 

Sherbrooke R
oad.  

A
s w

ith G
leghorn R

oad and Em
berson Street, R

ivington A
ve w

ill be required to 
integrate w

ith the V
ictorian State G

overnm
ent’s upgrade

of M
onbulk R

oad w
hich is 

the subject of a B
usiness C

ase to Treasury by the D
epartm

ent of Transport and 
Planning. 
R

ivington A
ve and O

w
en Street com

bined, services 38 residences. M
any hom

es have 
betw

een tw
o and three cars. So the residential traffic is estim

ated around 114 cars 
along w

ith delivery trucks, and the estim
ated 350 vehicles (per w

eek) from
 the 

K
allista Tearoom

s.  

This R
eport undertakesto establish R

ivington A
venue, K

allista as a “Priority R
oad”

for drainage and sealing.It is accom
panied by a residents’ petition advocating for 

drainage and surfacing of this vital access road.

The criteria used in this report w
as advised in a draft docum

entprepared
B

y
C

ouncil O
fficers: M

r K
im

 O
’C

onnor & M
r H

jalm
ar Philipp

and p rovided to the 
K

allista Flood W
atch G

roup by 
M

ayor, C
r Sophie Todorov

on January 9, 2024

P
age 73



R
ivington A

ve is 371 m
etres and

O
w

en Street is 600 m
etres long. These tw

o roads 
provide connectivity to around 464 cars per w

eek.  
C

onnectivity is vital on this road because it services the Tearoom
s’patrons w

ith the
through road access to Sherbrooke R

oad. 
Im

portantly,R
ivington A

ve and O
w

en Street provide access to B
elgrave, M

onbulk, 
Sherbrooke, and Ferny C

reek, access to H
ills’s C

om
m

unities and to outer m
etro areas.

M
aintenance Issues: H

igh num
ber of m

aintenance requests on road.                             
O

ver decades residents have lodged com
plaints w

ith very poor outcom
es or 

resolutions. 
The culvert drains are overgrow

n and residents report they have never seen them
 

cleaned. 
The road surface is w

orn and eroded by flooding events. 
The drainage and sealing of R

ivington A
ve is im

portant to address existing 
m

aintenance issues, flash flooding events and the increased road traffic.  
C

urrent m
aintenance is ineffective, potholes continually appear during the w

inter 
m

onths.
The flooding from

 O
w

en Street and M
onbulk R

oad is eroding not just the road 
surface but drivew

ays. R
esidents report their drivew

ays are w
ashed aw

ay in these 
events due to the antiquated drainage system

.
Flash flooding w

aters are not m
anaged and the drainage cannot cope w

ith the 
volum

es. There is no m
aintenance or service solution w

ith the current infrastructure to 
resolve these issues.   
W

orse,as a result the debris, soil and gravel “w
ashes”,the various upstream

 sources 
are severely infecting the creek and

altering the w
ater course. In sections,the 

em
bankm

ents are eroding and the gravel deposits are forcing the creek underground. 
W

e have been inform
ed by a Y

arra R
anges C

ouncil O
fficer that the gravel cannot be 

rem
oved. K

allista is part of the Liw
ik B

arring C
onservation A

rea –
respectfully w

e 
ask how

 can this “gravel infection” continue? 
The volum

es of w
ater from

 Em
berson Street and M

onbulk R
oad flood R

ivington A
ve. 

W
ater from

 those upstream
 sources flood the car parks on R

ivington A
ve rem

oving 
the surfaces and depositing it in the creek. C

onsequently the em
bankm

ents that border 
the car parks and the creek em

bankm
ents are heavily eroded. 

The polluted w
ater from

 the run-off is spreading across the easem
ent of the creek and 

entering residents’ property. N
o m

aintenance has been rem
ediated to support the 

hom
eow

ners, despite com
plaints to both M

elbourne W
ater and to

the Y
arra R

anges 
C

ouncil  
R

ivington A
ve has the unique situation of servicing a popular tourist destination,the

K
allista Tearoom

s. M
aintenance is not supporting the residential com

m
unity of that 

street. Increasing “through” traffic is delivering a heavy burden to the road surface 
conditions. The unsealed surface and poor drainage is not a sustainable solution. 
The road and drainage are not fit-for-purpose and im

portantly the m
aintenance 

servicing is insufficient. 
C

ars have slid off the road at the bend w
here R

ivington A
ve connects w

ith O
w

en 
Street. That location becom

es a bog during the w
inter m

onths w
ith m

ud increasing due 
to run-off. It is dangerous both for m

otorists and w
alkers.  

W
hat is im

portant is the need to install drainage and road surfaces to m
eet the 

standards of the integration w
ith the D

epartm
ent of Transport and Planning’s 

P
age 74



infrastructure upgrade for M
onbulk R

oad. The current condition of R
ivington A

ve 
could not possibly m

eet the criteria of the proposed upgrade of M
onbulk R

oad.   

Special C
harge Schem

e: T
o construct the road. 

There are residents on R
ivington A

ve w
ho have resided there for several decades. 

A
ll have paid rates and have asked for the road to be sealed.  

R
ivington A

venue is 100 years old and requires an upgrade. This should not be at the 
expense of the residents. N

o sustainable upgrades have taken place on that street for 
40 years.  
R

esidents w
ant it sealed. If a Special C

harge Schem
e is being considered,the Y

arra 
R

anges C
ouncil m

ight com
passionately consider how

 residents have paid their rates 
over several decades w

ith no m
eaningful infrastructure im

provem
ents.  

The residents have paid the sam
e rates as other residential com

m
unities across the 

Shire w
here sealed access roads and com

prehensive drainage system
s exist. 

R
ivington A

ve and its associated road residents have through rate paym
ents supported 

infrastructure in other com
m

unities w
hile their needs have been sacrificed. 

R
ivington A

ve needs over-due sustainable solutions to integrate w
ith the proposed 

infrastructure upgrades on M
onbulk R

oad. 

Petition: R
eceived from

 abutting landow
ners requesting C

ouncil investigate 
constructing their road. 

A
 form

al Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil com

pliant petition by residents’ accom
panies and 

supports this report. 
Petitioning how

ever by residents has taken place in the past w
ith previous C

ouncils.  
For the few

 years through advocacy activities,w
e have asked on behalf of the 

residents, for the drainage and sealing of unsealed roads including R
ivington A

ve. 
W

e supported the Y
arra R

anges C
ouncil w

ith direct advocacy to the H
on C

atherine 
K

ing M
P –

Federal M
inister for R

oads to have the R
oads for the C

om
m

unity funding 
restored specifically m

entioning G
leghorn R

oad, Em
berson Street and R

ivington A
ve. 

The K
allista Flood W

atch G
roup has brought the need for an upgrade on R

ivington 
A

ve to the Federal M
em

ber for C
asey, M

r A
aron V

ioli M
P, the V

ictorian M
em

ber for 
M

onbulk, M
s D

aniela de M
artino M

P and the V
ictorian M

inister for R
oads, the H

on 
M

elissa H
orne M

P. 
W

e believe R
ivington A

ve m
eets the Priority R

oads criteria as advised in the Y
arra 

R
anges C

ouncil’s draft docum
ent received on January 9, 2024.

P
age 75



P
age 76



P
age 77



P
age 78



-
 

 -
-

-

 
-

 

 

:

P
age 79



–

-

-

 
 

-I

P
age 80



”

”-P
age 81



P
age 82



P
age 83



P
age 84



P
age 85



P
age 86



P
age 87



P
age 88



P
age 89



P
age 90



P
age 91



P
age 92



P
age 93



 

-
B

 

-
r 

 

 
 

the 
 

 
rates in this light

 
things w

r

  

is 

charge for ser
-

 
 

 

-
actually accesses the 

 

P
age 94



 

– 

 
 

 
 

Cash Balance 

less 
 

a rate rise of less 
 

 total 
or usage 

 

-to-
total 

-

-

 
 

 

P
age 95



P
age 96



Subm
ission to Budget 2025 26  

 
 

 
 

27/4/25  

D
ear C

ouncillors and Yarra Ranges C
ouncil Sta

,  

Thank you for the opportunity of providing feedback on your proposed 2025/26 Budget.  

This budget proposes increasing not just rates, but also 88%
 of all other charges in 

alm
ost every cost area. Specifically   

 
Rates 3%

 (on top of 2.75%
 last year) - both at the m

axim
um

 allow
ed by law

 

 
W

aste C
ollection fees increasing betw

een 6 and 9%
  

Pet Registrations increasing 16%
 or m

ore  

Fees to use pools increasing betw
een 3%

 to 20%
  

And all of this is on top of im
plem

enting new
 fees and fines for parking etc  

It is unconscionable that council is proposing to increase rates and com
m

on costs to 
this extent in the context of a cost-of-living crisis. W

e have all been im
pacted by this 

crisis – m
ost w

ages haven’t increased in line w
ith inflation and w

e all need to tighten our 
belts to adjust to this reality. This m

eans finding savings and going w
ithout things that 

are nice to have.  

You need to give us a choice – should rates increase or should som
e program

s be cut, 
reduced or deferred? This choice needs to be clearly laid out so that w

e, the 
com

m
unity, can be part of the decision-m

aking process to prioritise spending options.  

O
f course, none of us w

ant to see services and program
s reduced, that’s hum

an nature. 
But som

e of the initiatives being proposed although hugely appealing, are nice-to-have, 
not critical, and I believe the focus should be on supporting those in need, as w

ell as 
providing basic council services.  

This is w
hat w

e all have to do in our personal lives w
hen w

e find our expenses exceed 
our incom

e.   

Surplus? I note that the Total C
om

prehensive Result show
s a $15.2 m

illion surplus, and 
that the C

ash Balance show
s a $27.6 m

illion surplus. W
as there any m

odelling done by 
C

ouncil to show
 how

 m
uch less they could charge in rates and other fees so as to 

m
inim

ise the surplus and charge only w
hat w

as necessary to cover expenses?  

E
iciencies? Although there are platitudes throughout the docum

ent about “identifying 
e

iciencies”, there is no depth of inform
ation provided to explain w

hat has been done to 
find and elim

inate w
aste and excess. To repeat the m

etaphor – this is w
hat w

e all need 
to do w

hen are expenses exceed our incom
e.   

 

P
age 97



Pet Registrations W
hy do basic dog & cat registration fees need to increase? W

hat 
costs are incurred by council in m

aintaining these registrations that w
ould explain the 

huge increases averaging 16 to 20%
 ? W

hile overall expenses exceed incom
e, there is 

not enough detail to explain w
here these expenses are incurred. Sim

plistically perhaps, 
I w

ould expect m
ost of the costs incurred w

ould be related to dealing w
ith problem

 pets 
(lost, dangerous, etc) and so if these are the cause, there m

ay be a case for increasing 
fees related to im

pound and release?  

H
ow

ever there is no detail on the im
pound costs or fees to help w

ith understanding this 
area. N

or is there anyw
here on the Anim

al Aid on the fees that are charged for 
im

pound/release of pets that they deal w
ith.  

And I also note that the cost of concession registrations are increasing- for dogs 21%
 

and cats 25%
. In w

hat w
orld does it m

ake sense to hit this group m
ore?  

Pool Fees / C
osts  

Pool entry fees are proposed to increase across alm
ost all categories –– m

ost around 
6%

, som
e m

ore. And here w
e go again, concession holders are double that at around 

12%
 to 14%

 increase. W
hen I said earlier that w

e need to be prioritising taking care of 
those in need in our com

m
unity – this is the type of thing I’m

 referring to.  

W
ith the loss of Kilsyth pool, and the huge reduction in associated m

aintenance costs, 
w

hy do w
e need to punish these pool users w

ho have had to find access to other pool 
options, and the associated costs of extra travel? 

Solar Savers  

According to the draft budget (page 14):  

C
ontinue to o

er program
s such as Solar Savers, to support residents and 

businesses to undertake energy e
iciency upgrades to reduce em

issions and 
save m

oney on utility bills. 

There is no detail on this program
, either in the budget itself or on the Solar Savers 

w
ebsites.  

W
hat is the cost/benefit of this program

 to YR residents? W
ill the program

 be renew
ed 

w
hen it expires in June/July 2025?  

Prom
ises?  

D
uring the 2024 election cam

paign, 4 of our elected councillors responded to a C
ouncil 

W
atch questionnaire and noted that in their opinion rates should be frozen or reduced, 

not increased. It is reasonable to assum
e this w

as an im
portant factor in their election 

success and the com
m

unity now
 expects you to honour this prom

ise. I call upon these 
4 at m

inim
um

 to reject the proposed rate increases out of hand. I im
pore the rest of you 

P
age 98



to consider the sam
e. G

iven that the tim
ing of the budget subm

ission and hearings are 
earlier than in previous years, I w

ould assum
e there is tim

e now
 to go back to the 

draw
ing board to provide better choices for your com

m
unities.  

To those of you listening in the gallery and online, it is not too late for you to contact your 
ow

n councillors and let them
 know

 w
hether or not you agree w

ith w
hat I have outlined. 

They have said previously they w
ish to hear from

 you.  

In sum
m

ary:  

This com
m

ent, found online, sum
s up m

y subm
ission …

  

 

 This budget needs to be rejected in its current form
, re-considered and you, our 

representatives, need to ask for options to be provided that do not require a rate 
increase.  

 

27/4/25 

P
age 99



Confidential Item

Page 100

Confidentiality Clauses: Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2020



 Hearing of Submissions 
Committee Agenda  06.05.25 

 

7. CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS 

In accordance with section 66(2)(a) of the Local Government Act 2020  

 

There were no Confidential Items listed for this meeting. 

Page 182

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

Hearing of Submissions 

Committee Agenda 

 

06.05.25 

 

8. MEETING CLOSED 

 

 

Page 183

Agenda Item 8



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In providing for the good governance of its community, Councillors are 
reminded of their obligation to abide by the provisions as set within the 
Local Government Act 2020 and the Code of Conduct for Councillors. 

When attending a Council Meeting, Councillors should adhere to the 
procedures set out in the Governance Rules developed by Council in 

accordance with section 60 of the Local Government Act 2020. 

The following is a guide for all Councillors to ensure they act honestly, in good faith 
and in the best interests of Yarra Ranges as a whole. 

1. Councillors will respect the personal views of other Councillors and the decisions 
of Council. 

2. Councillors may publicly express their own opinions on Council matters but not 
so as to undermine the standing of Council in the community. 

3. The Mayor is the official spokesperson for Council. 

4. Councillors will incur expenditure in a responsible manner and in accordance with 
the Councillor Expenditure and Policy.   

5. Councillors will avoid conflicts of interest and will always openly disclose any 
direct and indirect interests where they exist. 

6. Councillors will act with integrity and respect when interacting with Council staff 
and members of the public. 

7. Councillors will demonstrate fairness in all dealings and conduct and be open 
with and accountable to the community at all times. 

8. Councillors will conduct themselves in a manner that does not cause detriment 
to Council or the Yarra Ranges community. 

 

Page 184


	Agenda
	1 DELEGATED COMMITTEE MEETING OPENED
	2 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY
	3 INTRODUCTION OF MEMBERS PRESENT
	4 APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE
	5 DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
	6.1 Budget Financial Year 2025/2026 Public Submissions
	Attachment 1 - Council Budget Submissions – Summary
	Attachment 2 - Council Budget Submissions – Summary with Management Responses

	7 CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS
	8 CLOSE OF THE MEETING
	Council Code


